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5. Classification
Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply)

S private 
53 public-local 
D public-State 
D public-Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

D building(s) 
3 district 
D site 
D structure 
D object

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing 

42

6

4

52

Noncontributing 

17

2

3

22

buildings

sites

structures

objects

Total

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of contributing resources previously listed 
in the National Register

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions
(Enter categories from Instructions) __

Domestic/sinale family
Domestic/hotel

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic/single family
Culture/museum

Corom^rr'e/d^pafr"tm«sn'fc n-tnT& CTommerce/restaurant
Education/school
rndusrtry/manuf acturing facility
Aerricultural/storaae
Transportation/road related•

TfaTvupor-hation/road related7

— Commerce/specialty ————————————

_ . —

.
7. Description
Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

—Georgian_____
Mid-19th Century

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation stone_________

wails ___y/eatherboa r d
stone

roof synthetic
other brick

synthetic
Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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8. Statement of Significance
Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 
for National Register listing.)

SJ A Property is associated with events that have made 
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history.

ES B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

S C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations ™/*
(Mark "x" in all the.boxes that appry.^

Property is:

D A owned by a religious institution or used for 
religious purposes.

D B removed from its original location. ~

D C a birthplace or grave.

D D a cemetery.

D E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

D F a commemorative property.

D G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years.

'Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Settlement

Development:

Architecture

Commerce
Education

Transportation

Period of Significance 
c. 1780-192$

Significant Dates 
-1825

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Duaenbery f

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References
Bibliography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

D preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested 
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D previously determined eligible by the National

Register
D designated a National Historic Landmark 
D recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

D recorded by Historic American Engineering 
Record # ___________

Primary location of additional data:

S State Historic Preservation Office 
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D Federal agency 
D Local government 
D University 
D Other 

Name of repository:
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New Hampton is located in the Highlands physiographic province 
of the northwestern New Jersey in^the broad rolling valley of the 
Musconetcong River which forms the boundary between Hunterdon and 
Warren Counties. The village hugs the south bank of the Musconet­ 
cong in a narrow strip of river bottom land at the foot of School- 
ey's Mountain, one of the long, wide ridges flanking the valley, 
just upstream from the mountain gap through which the region's 
principal north/south jroute has passed since aboriginal times. The 
linear settlement extends along about a half mile stretch of this 
early road (which was subsequently incorporated, in part, into the 
Spruce Run Turnpike and Route 31) from its river crossJLng at a 
water power site in—use by the time of Revolutionary War? and _ 
perhaps some years before. Except for the Lebanon Township His­ 
torical Museum, which occupies a 19th-century schoolhouse, and two 
or three businesses New Hampton is entirely residential. The 
surrounding landscape is a mix of wooded and open land interspersed 
with modern, low density residential development, the latter mostly 
concentrated at the north and south ends of the district.

The New Hampton Historic District encompasses the entire vil­ 
lage, but excludes the adjoining modern residential development. 
An inventory of the district/s resources forms part of this sec­ 
tion, and all resources have been categorized as "contributing" or 
"non-contributing" to the district's significance. The contribu­ 
ting resources include forty-two buildings (three are 18th century, 
thirty-one 19th century, and eight 20th century), five structures 
(an iron truss bridge, #19; a well pump, #7; mill hydrosystem #17; 
a limekiln, #19; all 19th century; and an early 20th-century pump 
house, #12), and six sites, those of an 18th-century tavern (#12), 
an early 1800s distillery (#20), and the ruins of a 19th-century 
mill (#17), house (#36), and two outbuildings (#19). There are 
twenty-six non-contributing resources, which, except for one 19th- 
century house (#5) and the 20th-century shoddy mill (#17), are 
mostly 20th-century houses and small outbuildings. One resource, 
the truss bridge (#19), is individually listed on the National 
Register of Historic Places.

District buildings, for the most part, are gable-roofed verna­ 
cular structures of frame or, less commonly, stone or brick con­ 
struction, dating to first three quarters of the 19th century and 
exhibiting simple stylistic embellishment typical of that era. The 
majority of them are dwellings with attendant outbuildings. Most 
have been enlarged or refurbished over the years. Modern improve­ 
ments, while resulting in the loss or obscuring of early fabric and
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detailing in some cases, have been neither numerous nor disfiguring 
enough to mar Jfche historic architectural character of the district.

In general t a rather tight streetscape of closely spaced 
buildings on small, narrow lots with short setbacks prevails 
throughout the district, a_development pattern established at New 
Hampton by the end of_ the 18th century and one that characterizes 
many of the region's early settlements. At the north and south~ 
ends of the district, a few buildings, properties historically- 
associated with agricultural or industrial uses, are more loosely 
grouped on larger lots. While district buildings typically face 
—the road, at least one house (#35) was built perpendicularly to the 
road for a southern exposure, an orientation characteristic of_the 
region's early architecture (photo #3). Picket fences delineate 
several village properties. With few exceptions (such as #30, the 
former Union Hotel, photo #10; #8, a dwelling; and the outbuildings 
at #19; photo #s 6 & 12) buildings generally _are in good condition 
and well maintained; surrounding yards similarly are well groomed, 
often featuring large trees and mature plantings.

New Hampton's architecture is representative of the region's 
vernacular construction practices and building types. Comprising a 
majority of the district's dwellings are traditional, 2-story, 
gable-roofed house types with single-pile or double-pile plans, 
interior gable-end chimneys, and generally regular fenestration 
patterns of two to five bays. Such houses are ubiquitous in the 
region's 18th- and 19th-century housing stock. Examples with 
single-pile plans include #s 5, 7, 8, 19, 25, and 26 of which #s 7, 
8, 25 and 26 appear to have side-hall plans (photo #s 11, 12, 20, 
21, and 38). Most of these houses date to the first half of the_ 
1.9th century. The district contains three dwellings with double- 
pile plans. One of its most impressive buildings, the Dusenbery 
House (#10, photo #s 14-16), which dates c. 1790-1802, has a 
double-pile, center-hall plan, as does a flat-roofed, mid-19th- 
century dwelling (#14, photo #29). The district's one double-pile, 
side-hall-plan house (#4) dates c. 1830 (photo #8). Although 
falling out of favor by the middle of the 19th century, traditional 
1 and 1/2-story houses were prevalent throughout the region at an 
early date, and probably more common than the two-story types. New 
Hampton has seven single-pile examples ranging from the late 18th 
to the mid-19th century in date, #s 1, 2, 3, 11, 13, 16, and 29, of 
which #s 11, 13, and 16 evidently began as one-room-plan dwellings 
and were subsequently enlarged (photo #s 2, 7, 9, 17, and 31). 
Another district house (#35) appears to be a 1 and 1/2-story,
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single-pile dwelling which was built perpendicularly to the road, 
but whose entrance was subsequently moved to the gable end facing 
the road, mimicking the gable-fronted house type which became popu­ 
lar in the,area during the middle of the 19th century (photo #3). 
The district also has an~example of the small 1 and 1/2-story 
"bungalow" type houses which became popular in-the region in the 
early 20th century, # 21, which was built on the foundation of an 
early building (photo #27). —

Outbuildings, of 19th- and 20th-century date are commonly asso­ 
ciated with district buildings. Typically unadorned frame struc­ 
tures of small size, they-include privies, small barns and sheds,— 
and_modern garages (photo #18). A larger building is the mid/late 
]J)th-century stable at one of the village's former hotels (#12), a 
stone and frame, 2-story structure whose principal entrance origi­ 
nal was located in the gable end facing the road and whose ground 
story retains iron tethering rings embedded in the stone walls. 
Attached to the rear of the hotel by a small hyphen is_a 1 and 1/2- 
story out kitchen whose gable-end chimney serves a cooking fire­ 
place (photo #26)-. The one farmstead associated with the district 
(#19) has remnants of a typical complex of agricultural outbuild­ 
ings including a stone spring house and a bank barn (photo #6).

New Hampton also contains a~humber of institutional, commercial, 
and industrial buildings and sites. The c. 1825 New Hampton School 
(#16) is a well-preserved example of the substantial two-story 
schoolhouses erected in a number of prosperous villages throughout 
the region during the first half of the 19th century, often as 
private academies (photo #30). The stuccoed-stone, single-pile, 
gable-roofed building has one room on each story and a belfry at 
the south gable end. The entrance, however, is not located in that 
gable end but in the south end bay of the long wall facing the 
road. The building was sometimes used for religious services.

The district's historic commercial buildings encompass two 
stores and two taverns or hotels. Probably dating to the late 
1700s or early 19th century, the Dusenbery/Simaton Store (#23) is a 
stone, gable-roofed, 2-story building bearing a resemblance to the 
2-story, single-pile-plan house type but lacking the gable-end 
chimneys and fireplaces normally associated with region's early 
residential construction, the only evidence of an early heating 
system being stove pipe holes in the floor at the north end of the 
building (photo #23). The storehouse also differs from contempor­ 
ary dwellings in that its front elevation has fewer windows rela-
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tive to its length. Sometime after 1851, it was converted into a 
dwelling, and the original internal arrangements are no longer 
evident. The building was later remodeled as a duplex, at which 
time the original wide central entry was blocked up and replaced by 
the flanking doors. The second store (#24), a 2-story brick build­ 
ing erected, by Dr. McClenehan in 1859, conforms to the gable- 
fronted commercial type ubiquitous in the area throughout the 19th 
century (photo #22). As originally constructed, J^he 3-bay front 
featured a double-doored central entry flanked by large windows and 
sheltered by a full-width porch. It also is in residential use.

The district's two hotels date to the thir_d quarter of the 
19th-century and replaced earlier taverns. The older of the two, 
the c. 1850 Union Hotel (#30), is a substantial, stuccoed-brick 
building with a stone cellar and double-pile plan (photo #s 5 and 
6). Featuring an asymmetrical gable roof, it is 2 and 1/2-stories 
high on the front-elevation and 2-sto"ries on the rear. Its long, 
7-bay front facade has central entries on both the first and 
second stories, the latter opening onto the roof deck of the porch 
which extends the full width of the front. A second first-story 
entry probably provided access the bar room. The large frame rear 
additions were added in the 1950s to accommodate retail gift store 
then occupying the premises. The other hotel^ the American House 
(#12), was constructed in 1862 (photo #s 24-26). Now in residential 
use, it is a 5-bay, 2 and 1/2-story, gable-roofed block of frame 
construction above a stone ground story and features a double-pile 
center-hall plan and gable-end chimneys. Central entries on both 
the ground story and first floor open onto the 2-story porch ex­ 
tending across the front. Flanking entries on the lower level 
provide access to what were bar and dining rooms. The first story 
accommodates more formal rooms including a large double parlor. 
This interior arrangement is characteristic of a number of the 
region's 19th-century taverns and hotels, such as the large stone 
tavern erected by Moore Furman at Pittstown, Hunterdon County, in 
the early 1800s ("The Old Pittstown Hotel," Washington Star, 
2/13/1913).

The district's one surviving industrial resource is its former 
grist and shoddy mill (#17). The mill complex consists of the 
stone shell of a grist mill (actually the lower portions of its 
walls) which evidently was erected in the early 1800s and partially 
rebuilt for use as a shoddy (rag grinding) mill after its destruc­ 
tion by fire in 1906 and again in 1912 (photo #34). Adjoining the 
east side of the now roofless stone shell is a much larger 2-story,
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gable-roofed building of frame construction above a brick lower 
story whose metal-framed windows suggest a c. 1930s construction 
date (photo #s 32 and 33). The mill complex was again damaged by 
fire in 1941; the stone and brick portions, at least, survived, and 
the building evidently was repaired later that year. The frame 
upper story was added in more recent years, and the building con­ 
verted to residential use. Elements of the mill's hydrosystem 
include portions of the breached mill dam and the tail race (photo 
#36). Just northwest of the mill between the tail race and the 
river is the site of the stone, 2-story distillery (#2(H which 
evidently was erected by_Dr. Samuel Fell in 1815-17; only traces of 

foundation remain.

-The district contains one transportation-related resource, an 
iron, truss bridge (#18) individually the National Register of 
Historic Places (photo #s 37 and 39). The well— preserved bridge is 
^a Pony pratt truss span of eight cords with end posts detailed as 
octagonal columns and stone abutments. It was fabricated in 1868 
by William Corwin of Lambertville.,: New Jersey.

While the exteriors of some district buildings are quite 
unadorned, many exhibit at least some decorative embellishment, 
typically at the roof eaves and front entry, and several are rather 
elaborately detailed. The detailing of New Hampton's mostly vena- 
cular buildings derives from several of the styles popular in the 
18th, 19th, and early 20th centuries. The pronounced impact of the 
classically based styles of the 18th and early 19th centuries on 
local builders can be seen in the symmetrical fenestratidn patterns 
and floor plans that characterize many district dwellings. More 
specifically Georgian style influences are evident in the archi­ 
trave window moldings of one early district building, the Dusen- 
bery/Simaton Store (#23), and more noticeably at the late 18th- 
century Dusenbery House (#10), the district's largest and most 
impressive dwelling. The exterior of the Dusenbery House exhibits 
such characteristic Georgian elements as splayed window lintels and 
blind gable oculi with articulated keystones and a modillion cor­ 
nice (restored by the present owners) which is returned across both 
gables as a pented pediment, the latter a feature typical of early 
Delaware Valley architecture not commonly found in Hunterdon County 
(photo #s 14-16). The well-preserved interior is distinguished by 
Georgian fireplace wall treatments in the two front parlors which, 
while somewhat provincial in design and execution, include robustly 
molded cornices, overmantels, and flanking cupboards and pilasters. 
Federal and Greek Revival style influences are apparent in the
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cornice and entry treatments of several dwellings, #s 4, 25, 26, 
and 34 (photo #s 8, 20, and 21). The best expression of the Greek 
Revival style, however, is the 1820s New Hampton School (#15) which 
features a flat-roofed belfry with denticulated entablature and 
plain corner pilasters, as well as a full entablature at the roof 
eaves and Grecian ovolo molded door panels (photo #30). The build­ 
ing also is notable for the "penciling" (to use the traditional 
1:erm) of its stucco cladding in a checkered pattern to resemble 
ashlar stone, a rare local example of that decorative treatment.

Several of the Victorian revival styles also influenced vil­ 
lage builders in the .middle decades of the 19th-century. ItaJ^- 
_ianate and Gothic Revival style motifs, in particular, are found 
throughout the district. Several buildings have the boxed over­ 
hanging eaves (three houses, #s 8, 11, and 35) or the bracketed 
cornices (both hotels, #s 12 and 30, the McClenehan store #24, and 
one dwelling, #14), in one instance, #14, in combination with a 
flat or low pitched roof, features characteristic of the style 
(photo #s 3, 6^12, 17, 22, 24, 25, and 29). The imprint of the 
Gothic Revival is evident i^i the tracery and spandrel brackets 
ornamenting both hotel porches (#s 12 and 30 >, the front cross 
gable of one dwelling (#11)7 the raked window cornices at #25, and 
the octagonal porch posts of #14 (photo #s 6, 17, 24, and 25). The 
turned porch post and small—spandrel brackets of the latter dwell­ 
ing is an embellishment of Queen Anne style derivation (photo #17).

Early 20th-century Colonial Revival influences are limited the 
bracketed entry hoods added to two houses, #s 4 and 25 (photo #s 8 
and 21). The Craftsman style had a slightly wider impact in New 
Hampton, as seen in the detailing of a few houses remodeled or 
built at that time, such as the stucco siding applied to #15, the 
overhanging eaves and stick-bracketed entry hood of #21, and the 
shed dormer and porch with heavy posts added to #2 (photo #s 27 and 
31). Craftsman style influences are also evident in the "rustic 
cabin" cottage with split-log siding and field stone exterior 
chimney at site #27 (photo #13).

In the following inventory each principal structure and site 
is identified by a number which locates it on the accompanying 
district map. All entries are categorized as "contributing" or 
"non-contributing" to the significance of the district. All out­ 
buildings, other than modern sheds, are identified as contributing 
or non-contributing with the designations (C) and (NO and included 
in the resource count.
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District Inventory: Lebanon sites -#s 1-18, 20-35; Wash. #s 18-19 & 36.

1 16 Musconetcong River Rd. Gable-roofed, 1 and 1/2-story,
single-pile dwelling consisting of a frame, 3-bay main block 
with stone bank cellar (almost fully above grade on the 
front), interior north-gable-end chimney (stuccoed stack), 
and rear shed appendage; a stuccoed, 2-bay, 2-story east wing 

~ (slightly lower than the main block) with interior north 
gable-end chimney (stuccoed stackl; and a 1-story, 3-bay 

— - further east addition. —

Style: none ~ _~ ,_

Date: main block, c. 1810-40; east wing, mid/late 19th; 
east addition, mid 20th.

Description: Exterior features include clapboard siding on 
the main block, boxed overhanging eaves, t>/6 and 9/6 sash 
windows, an off-center main block basement-level entry, a 
shed-roofed, 2-story, 1-bay, main block entry porch with 
square posts, and a shed-roofed east addition porch. A main 
block first-story entry has been removed.

Outbuildings: (1) concrete block, roofless, 2-bay garage (mid 
20th) with cobblestone veneer (NO; (2) small, stuccoed, 
roofless outbuilding (mid 20th) (NO; (3) square stone 
well curb (mid 20th) (NO.

Contributing B73/L7 Photo #2

2 18 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, gable- 
roofed, 3-bay, single-pile dwelling with a stone bank cellar, 
interior south gable-end chimney, and shed-roofed rear ap­ 
pendage which extends 1-bay beyond north gable end.

Style: Craftsman embellishment Date: c. 1810-40

Description: It has clapboard siding, overhanging eaves, a 
shed dormer, mostly 6/6 sash windows, end-bay basement and 
first-story entries, and a shed-roofed porch with large 
square posts.
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Outbuildings: (1) small, cobblestone gable-roofed cottage 
(mid 20th) (NO; (2) frame, 1-story barn (c. 1970-90) (NO; 
frame octagonal gazebo (c. 1990) (NO.

Contributing B73/L8

3 20 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, gable- 
roofed, 4-bay, single-pile dwelling (set perpendicularly to 
the road facing south) with modern exterior chimneys, and a 
small south gable-end appendage.

Style: Craftsman embellishment Date: c. 1800-40-

Description: The exterior features wood shingle siding, over­ 
hanging eaves, 6/1 sash (replacements) windows with batten 
shutters, and a shed-rooi'ed porch_ with square posts.

Contributing B73/L8.01 Photo #7

4 28 Musconetcong River Rd. Stuccoed-stone, 2-story, gable- 
roofed dwelling with a double-pile, side-hall plan, and inte­ 
rior gable end chimneys (brick stacks with corbelled drip 
caps); frame, shed-roofed rear appendage, and frame, 1-story 
south addition with small shed appendage.

Style: Federal -influences, ^Colonial Revival embellishment

Date: c. 1830; John Prall purchased the 1/2-acre lot on which 
._ it stands in 1828 for $100 (Hunterdon Deeds, Book 45, page 

361). Historic maps (Cornell, 1851 & Beers, 1873) and an 
historic photograph ("View of Main Street, New Hampton," 
Lebanon Township Museum) indicate that the Prall family's 
furniture factory, a large frame structure, stood behind the 
house. The factory was demolished around 1906 ("New Hamp­ 
ton," The Washington Star, 12/13/1906).

Description: It has a box cornice with bed molding, later 
overhanging eaves, 6/6 sash windows with modern shutters, a 
recessed entry with transom, 8-panel door, and matching 
paneled reveals (raised panel fields), and gabled Colonial 
Revival entry hood with stick brackets.
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Contributing B73/L10 Photo #8

30 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 2-story, gable-roofed, 
single-pile dwelling with exterior brick north gable-end 
chimney, shed-roofed 2-story front appendage (whose lower 
story because of the sloping ground is roughly level with the 
dwelling's basement), and 1-story shed-roofed^ north appen­ 
dage . " —

Style-: Colonial Revival embell. _. Date: mid 19th

Description: It has aluminum siding, overhanging eaves, most­ 
ly 1/1 sash (replacement) windows, screened rear porches, and 
centered front appendage entry with a mid-20th-century Colo­ 
nial Revival surround incorporating pilasters and segmental 
pediment flanked by large multi-pane windows. The date 
"1855" is inscribed on a small plaque above the entry.

Outbuildings: (1)- frame', 2-bay garage (mid 20th) (NO. 

Non-contributing B73/L11

32 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1-story dwelling with 
attached 2-bay garage.

Style: none Date: mid 20th 

Non-contributing B73/L12.01

34 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 2-story, gable-roofed, 3- 
bay, single-pile dwelling with interior north gable-end chim­ 
ney (brick stack) and a 1 and 1/2-story rear wing with shed 
appendage.

Date: c. 1813-30, perhaps somewhat earlier. It is located'on 
a 2.25-acre lot (which then included site #s 5 and 6) sold by 
Samuel Bowlby to David Parke in 1813 for $200 (Hunterdon 
County Deeds, Book 22/page 13).
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Description: Exterior features include box cornices, later 
overhanging eaves, 1/1 sash (replacement)—windows, central 
front entry, and a hip-roofed, 3-bay porch with heavy square 
posts and closed railing.

Outbuildings: (1) caste iron well pump (late 19th/early 
20th) (C); (2) frame, 2-bay garage (mid 20th) (NC).

Contributing ~ B73/L12 Photo #11

36 Musconetcong River Rd. —Frame, 2-stbry, gable-roofed, 
dwelling consisting of a 3-bay main block with evidently a 
single pile side-hall plan, a 2-bay west gable-end extension 
(whose lower second-story windows suggest that its roof may 
have been raised to correspond to that of the main block); 
and a rear ell with shed appendage.. The chimney stacks evi­ 
dently were removed when-the present roofing was installed.

Style: Italianate influences

Date: mid 19th, perhaps earlier in part, but not before 1810. 
It is located on a 1/2-acre lot conveyed by Samuel Bowlby, 
Sr., to Joseph Bowlby In 1810 for $20 (Hunterdon County 
Deeds, Book 22/page 13).

Description: The deteriorating house features clapboard sid­ 
ing , boxed overhanging eaves with frieze and crown and bed 
moldings, 2/2 and 6/6 sash windows with louvered shutters, an 
end-bay front entry, and a collapsing front porch with 
square-spindle railing.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, 2-bay, 1-story shop/garage (early 
20th) with vertical siding and collapsed appendage with cor­ 
rugated metal siding (C); (2) frame, shed-roofed chicken coop 
(early 20th) with vertical siding, multi-pane windows, and 
batten door (C). The front yard is retained by a low rubble 
stone wall.

Contributing B73/L13 Photo #12

38 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1 and 1/2-story dwelling 
with asymmetrical gable-end facade, brick exterior north
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chimney, and a 2-story rear appendage.

Style: Craftsman influences

Date: early 20th, may incorporate an earlier structure^

Description: It has aluminum siding, overhanging eaves with 
exposed rafter ends, 1/1 sash windows, and a hip-roofed front 
porch with overhanging eaves (exposed rafter ends), heavy 
square posts, closed railing; the porch is enclosed with 1/1 
sash windows .'."-.

Outbuildings : (1) frame, 2-story, gable-roofed barn/stable 
. (mid/late 19th) with vertical and "batten door (C) .

Contributing B73/L13.01 Photo #14

10 40 MusconetcoBg River Rd. (Dusenbery House). Coursed rubble 
stone, 2-story, 5-bay, gable-roofed dwelling with— « double 
pile center-hall plan, interior gable-end chimneys (brick 
stacks with corbelled drip caps and water tables) and a 
cellar which is partially on the front and sides.

Style: Georgian

Date : c. 1790-1802; Henry Dusenbery referred to the property 
in his jwill as "my Homestead Stone Mansion house and lot 
situated in Hew Hampton aforesaid, containing half an acre 
bought of [brother] William Dusenbery and wife" (New Jersey 
Wills 3373J). Since William Dusenbery left New Hampton for 
the West in 1799, his brother most likely acquired the pro­ 
perty before that time ( The Dusenbery Story, page 32 & NJ 
Wills #3373 J). While the will can be understood to mean 
that Henry purchased either the house and lot or just the lot 
from his brother, it seems more likely that the former, who 
was prospering at New Hampton, rather than the later, who 
moved west to try his fortune, was responsible for its con­ 
struction. The house was certainly extant by 1802, in which 
year Henry Dusenbery *s house and lot had the highest assess­ 
ment of any such property in Lebanon Township and almost 
double that of other identifiable house lots in New Hampton 
(Lebanon Township Tax Ratables , 1802).
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Description: The stonework incorporates a plain water table 
at the level of the first floor, segmentally arched lintels 
of cut stone voussoirs above the cellar windows and entry and 
spanning those of the rear elevation, flat cut stone lintels 
above the other windows, each consisting of a projecting key 
stone and flanking stones with splayed ends, and a blind 
oculus at both gable peaks with voussoirs and projecting 
keystones at the quadrant points. Other features include a 
denticulated box cornice which is returned fully across both 
gables (restored in recent work, based on ghosts of removed 
cornice on the south gable) and covered,with small pent 

_roofs, architrave rake boards on both gables, mostly 9/6 sash 
windows with architrave trim, vertical wooden grills covering 
the smaller cellar windows, and .an elaborate entry surround, 
installed iff recent restoration work, which incorporates a 
denticulated pediment, fluted pilasters and double-leaf 

_ _ raised panel door.

The present entry replaces a deteriorated, mid-19th century 
Greek Revival entry stoop with octagonal posts.

The interior retains much original fabric including Georgian 
fireplace wall treatments in both first story front rooms, a 
denticulated cornice in the northwest front—room, shouldered 
architrave door trim, raised-panel doors, paneled window 
reveals, and an open staircase with molded square newel 
posts, molded handrail, and turned balusters. The two parlor 
mantels are comprised of shouldered architrave surrounds, 
robustly molded cornices, and overmantels (architrave frames 
with plaster fields); to one side of each is a round-arched 
cupboard with flanking pilasters in the northwest room and 
architrave surround in the southwest room. The kitchen in 
the southeast corner of the first story has a large timber- 
linteled.cooking fireplace.

Outbuildings: (1) small frame shed (mid 20th). 

Contributing B73/L14 Photo #s 14-16

11 42 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, I and 1/2-story, gable- 
roofed, single-pile dwelling (possibly built in two sections) 
with interior gable-end chimneys (stuccoed stacks with water 
tables and drip caps), a shed-roofed rear appendage, and a
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shed-roofed north appendage whose roof slope is hidden by a 
"false front" or parapet wall.

Style: Gothic Revival influenced embellishment

Date: early 19th; north half possibly before 1808 when the 
site was conveyed by William Wolever to .Richard Rounsaville 
for $552 (Hunterdon Deeds, Book 15/page 361).

Descriptions Among the exterior features are aluminum siding, 
boxed overhanging eaves, central front gable, 2/2 ancL 1/1 
sash ( replacements—windows , inner-bay entry with glass-and- 
panel door, and a flat-roofed front porch with box cornice, 
spandrel brackets, and turned posts. A modern, window has 
been inserted in the front end of the north shed appendage.

Outbuildings : (1) frame, 2-story, gable-roofed barn/ stable 
(mid/late 19th; residential conversion mid 20th) with over­ 
hanging eaves, clapboard siding, and sash windows (C); frame- 
privy (late 19th/early 20th) with clapboard siding and batten 
door (C) .

Contributing B73/L15 Photo #s 17-19

12 44 Musconetcong River Rd. (former American House) Frame, 2 
and 1/2-story, gable-roofed, 5-bay hotel with a double-pile 
center-hall plan, bank cellar which is fully above grade on 
the front, and interior gable-end chimneys (brick stacks with 
corbelled drip caps ) ; attached to the rear by a small hyphen 
is a l--story, gable-roofed, 2-bay out kitchen wing with 
interior gable-end chimney (brick stack with corbelled water 
table and drip cap) and stone foundation incorporating a 
cistern.

Style: Italianate, Gothic Revival, & Greek Revival influences

Date: 1862; Jacob P. Thomas's August, 1862 tavern license 
petition refers to "his new tavern house now being completed 
...near to his old tavern... in New Hampton" (Hunterdon Tav­ 
ern Licenses, Jacob P. Thomas, 1862). The new building 
stands on the "yellow house lot" which Thomas had purchased, 
along with the old tavern to the north, in April of that
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year. The latter premises was "the tavern house and lot" 
sold by the eatate of Jacob Johnston in 1853, the same tavern 
property which Johnston had purchased from Henry Dusenbery's 
executors in 1828 (Hunterdon Deeds, Book 126/page 473, Book 
105/page 428, and Book 46/page 189). According to the pre­ 
sent owner, the kitchen wing predates the main block, and was 
erected c. 1840.

— Description: The front is dominated by a 2-story, 5-bay porck
with bracketed cornice, large square posts with molded capi- 

—- tals, "springers," and bases, a tracery railing on the upper
——level, and on both ̂ Levels curved bracket-like__spandrel orna­ 

ment (foliated below, "scrolled" above) with tracery central_ 
pendants creating an arcaded effect within each_bay between 
the posts. The upper, or first-story, central entry features 
doublerleaf 4-panel doors with bolection moldings, transom, 
and molded transom bar set; it is set—within, a shallow recess 

- whose reveals are faced with long recessed panels edged with 
Grecian ovolo molding and whose surround~is articulated with 
flanking pilasters and arched tracery screen at its head. 
The ground story has a central entry double leaf 4-panel door 
(upper panels round-arched) and stained glass transom with 
the inscription "American House" and flanking entries between 
the window bays with 4-panel doors. All three entries are 
recessed with reveals lined with panels matching those of the 
doors. Other exterior features include clapboard siding, 
flush horizontal siding on the porch walls, box cornice with 
elaborate scroll brackets, crown and bed moldings, wide 
frieze, and returns that is carried on the raking eaves, 2- 
light attic-story windows between the cornice brackets, and 
4/4 and 2/2 sash windows with plain trim.

The interior retains much early fabric included architrave 
door and window trim, panel doors t sliding "pocket" doors 
connecting the two first-story south parlors, simple Greek 
Revival style mantels with plain pilasters, an open staircase 
rising three stories, and molded plaster ceiling ornament.

Outbuildings: (1) frame pump house (early 20th) with vertical 
bead-board siding, overhanging eaves, and batten sliding door 
(C); (2) frame, 3-bay, 2-story, gable-roofed stable/barn 
(mid/late 19th, enlarged c. 1972) with a stone ground story, 
clapboard siding, boxed overhanging eaves, mostly 6/6 sash 
windows, and a large 3-bay cross gabled addition; iron rings
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for tethering horses are attached to the interior stone walls 
(C); (3) frame, 2-story, gable-roofed out building (mid/late 
19th, subsequently reworked; said to have been used as an ice 
house) with_embanked stone ground story (partially rebuilt in 
concrete block) which is Tully above grade on the north side, 
vertical siding and overhanging eaves; the south end by is 
largely of hewn timber, mortise and tenon construction (C); 
(4) the stone retaining wall extending northwards from the 
latter's northwest corner is said to be part of the old — 
tavern foundation (C) . __ .

Contributing - B73/L16- Photo # 24-26

13 48 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, gable- 
roofed, 4-over-5-bay, single pile dwelling (evidently built 

._ in two parts, a 2-over-3-bay unit with 2-bay north addition) 
with interior chimney (stuccoed stack) and rear appendage.

Style: none Date: c. 1800-40

Description: It has aluminum siding, overhanging eaves, most­ 
ly 1/1 sash (replacement) windows, modern casement attic- 
story front windows, front entry with 6-panel door, and a 3- 
bay front porch with large square posts.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, gable-roofed privy (late 19th/early 
20th) with vertical siding and batten door (C); (2) frame, 1- 
bay, gable-roofed garage/shop (early 20th) with shed-roofed 
appendage, clapboard siding, and batten sliding door (C).

Contributing B73/L17

14 54 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 2 and 1/2-story, 5-bay 
dwelling with a flat or low-pitched roof, paired interior 
end-wall chimneys (brick stacks), double-pile, center-hall 
plan a small shed-roofed rear appendage, and a 3-bay, 1- 
story, hip-roofed north addition which incorporates a garage.

Style: Italianate/Greek Revival/Gothic Revival influences 

Date: c. 1850-70
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Description: Supported by scroll brackets* the wide box cor­ 
nice at the eaves has crown and bed moldings and a wide 
frieze pierced between the brackets by small attic-story 
windows which are covered cast-iron grills with arabesque 
ornament. Other exterior features include aluminum siding, 
6/6 sash windows with modern shutters, a central front entry 
with sidelights, transom, wide molded transom bar, plain 
flaking pilasters, and panel door, and a flat-roafed, 1-bay 
entry porch with scroll-bracketed entablature" and octagonal 
columns with molded capitals and bases.

Outbuildings t The front yard is retained by a^ltow rubble _ ~ 
stone wall.

Contributing B73/L18 Photo #s 28-29

15 57 Musconetcong River Rd. (Lebanon. Township^ Museum, former 
-New Hampton, or District #8, School). Stuccoed—stone, 2- 
story, gable-roofed, 4-bay, single pile school with square 
flat-roofed belfry at the south end.

Style: Greek Revival

Date: mid 1820s; while later 19th-century sources state it 
was erected in 1823; the 1825 deed for the site notes that 
the conveyance was contingent that the trustees "erect or 
cause to be erected upon said lot a suitable building for a 
schoolhouse," and also specified that the building might be 
used for religious purposes (Snell, History of Hunterdon 
County, page 454; Conklin, "History of Schools, Hunterdon 
County, New Jersey," page 14; Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 
39/page 235). Conklin noted that the buildings was "thor­ 
oughly repaired, remodeled and refurnished with the best 
seating in 1874 at large expense."

Description: The stucco is incised (or "penciled" to use the 
traditional term) in a checkered pattern to resemble ashlar 
stone; a small section of irregular ashlar stonework to the 
left of the entry evidently was exposed to view during resent 
restoration work. The belfry has a denticulated entablature, 
plain corner pilasters, flush horizontal sheathing and lou- 
vered openings. Other features include an entablature with 
returns that is carried on the raking eaves (the front and
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rear cornices appear to have been rebuilt to accommodate 
built-in gutters), 6/6 sash windows with modern panel, and a 
recessed, end-bay entry with 4-panel door (recessed panels 
outlined with Grecian ovolo molding) and plain reveal panels.

The well-preserved interior features one large room on each 
floor, a vesrtibule in the southwest corner with the staircase 

— to its rear.

Outbuildings (1) two, frame privies (early 20th), one with 
gable-end entry and the other sidewall entry, and with over­ 
hanging eav~es, vertical siding, and battens doors (C); (2) 
frame shed (late 20th). -• _

Contributing B71/L4 Photo #30~

16 55 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, gable- 
roofed, 4-bay, single-pile, dwelling (evidently a one-room- 
plan dwelling enlarged to the north with a 2-bay, one-room- 
plan north extension) with interior chimney (integral to the 
south unit, stucco stack), bank cellar fully above grade at 
the south end, and small rear appendages.

Style: Craftsman embellishment

Date: c. 1833-45. It stands on a 1/2-acre lot sold by Robert 
Simaton to John A. Smith in 1833, described in that convey­ 
ance as containing a wheelwright shop (Hunterdon County 
Deeds, Book 116/page 159). The 1874 Hunterdon County atlas 
depicts a wheelwright shop just south of the house (Beers, 
Atlas of Hunterdon County. NJ_, page 17) .

Description: It has stucco siding on the main block, clap­ 
board siding on the appendages, boxed overhanging eaves, 6- 
light attic- story front windows, 2/2 sash (replacement) 
windows, and a shed-roofed front porch enclosed with 6/1 sash 
windows above a shingled railing.

The interior retains some early fabric, most notable a first- 
story fireplace whose simple mantel incorporates Grecian 
ovolo molding.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, hip-roofed garage (c. 1915-35) with
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novelty siding and batten sliding doors (C) (2) long, nar­ 
row, frame shed (late 19th), built in two parts with board- 
and-batten siding, overhanging eaves, and batten doors (C).

Contributing B71/L2 Photo #31 —

17 1 Shoddy Mill Rd. (former shoddy mill). Large, 2-story, 
gable-roofed mill building comprised of a stone foundation 
(partially above grade oh the north and west sides), a brick 
(common bond) first-story (6 bays wide and 4 bays deep), and 

— a frame second-story (5 bays wide and 3-bays deep). At^the 
north end is a frame, 1-bay appendage of 2-stories above a 
ground story (in part concrete block) that is fully above 
grade; roofless stone shell abuts north side (see outbuild­ 
ings below).

Style: none

Date: main block brick probably c. 1930s, perhaps around the- 
time renovations were made in 1932 ("Mill Addition at New 
Hampton," The Washington Star, 9/22/1932). When the mill 
complex was damaged by fire in 1941, a newspaper article 
noted that the sheet-metal clad storage building was de- — 
stroyed but that the brick and stone portions of the building 
which housed the machinery were not damaged ("Felt Mill At 
New Hampton Is Damaged By A Big Fire," The Washington Star, 
1/23/1941). The building was repaired and enlarged later in 
1941 ("New Hampton," The Washington Star, 10/28/1941). 
The frame upper story and wing added in more recent years.

Stone ruins (see outbuildings below) are 19th century, proba­ 
bly early 1800s on site of earlier mill. The 1881 county 
history (Snell, page 450) credits Henry Dusenbery with the 
construction of the then extant mill in 1800; he, however, 
did not acquire the property until 1807 (Hunterdon County 
Deeds, Book 14/page 190). Newspaper articles of 1906 give 
its construction date as 1812 and 1814 with Caleb Dusenbery, 
Henry Dusenbery's eldest son, credited with its construction 
in the latter year ("Fire Destroys Old New Hampton Mill," The 
Washington Star, 7/5/1906; "New Hampton," The Washington 
Star, 12/13/1906). An 1851 auction advertisement describes 
it as a "three story Stone Grist Mill, 45 by 50 Ft., with 
three pair of Stones and two Water Wheels" ("Vendue Execu-
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tor's Sale...of Robert Simaton, des...James Lomerson, Execu­ 
tor, July 31, 1851," Belvidere Intelligencer, 9/4/185^H . It 
was rebuilt after a fire in 1906 for use as a shoddy mill 

_ with the walls lowered to 1-story height using lumber taken 
from a demolished brush factory in nearby Glen Gardner, and 
rebuilt again after a 1912 fire; in the latter work a sheet- 
iron clad building, 18 by 20 ft., was built to store the 
ground shoddy which was blown into it from the grinding 
machines in the mill ("Fire Destroys Old New Hampton Mill," 
The Washington Star, 7/5/1906; "New Hampton," The Washington 
Star, 12/6/1906; "New Hampton Has A Blaze" The Washington 

~Star. 11/14/1912; "New Hampton," The Washington Star, .
12/5/1912; and "New Hampton," The Washington Star, 1/2/1913),

Description: The first-story window and door openings of the 
brick portion have stretcher lintels, and most of the windows 
retain metal sashes and frames. The two jeast entries (one 
double-width) have modern doors; the-south entry has been 
Taoarded over. The upper story features aluminum siding and 
multi-pane sash windows.

Outbuilding/site features: (1)_abutting the west wall is a 
roofless, coursed rubble stone ruins (the first story of an 
early 1800s grist mill rebuilt as a 1-story shoddy mill in 
1906) with an irregular fenestration; on the south side the 
wall rebuilt partially in block framing three windows (C). 
Remnants of (2) the mill's hydrosystem survive including the 
breached, stone mill dam and across the road on block 72/lot 
20 the tail race (C); the remainder of the raceway which 
evidently passed along the north side of the stone mill has 
been mostly filled in. North of the mill is (3) a modern in- 
ground swimming pool (NO.

Non-contributing B71/L1.01 Photo #s 32-36

18 Hunterdon/Warren County Bridge # L95W. Pony pratt truss 
bridge of eight cords with stone abutments.

Style: none

Date: 1868, date embossed at the top of one end posts.

Description: The four end posts and the top rails on both



NPS Form 10-900-a _..„ ,
(3.86) OMB Approval No. 1024-OOt8

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places NJ, i?unt«rdon countyContinuation Sheet *7CW Hampton »i«toric

Section number 7 Page 20

sides are octagonal in section. The end posts are detailed 
as columns with molded bases and capitals. Embossed on one 
the rails is "Built for the Freeholders of Hunterdon and 
Warren Counties by Wm. Cowin Lambertville."

Contributing Photo #s 37 & 39

1.9 258 Rymon Rd. Frame, gable-roofed, 2-story, 4-bay, single- 
pile dwelling with interior gable-end chimneys (brick stacks 
with corbelled drip caps) and a rear ell with interior—gable- 
end chimney (brick stack with corbelled ̂ rip cap).

Style; none Date: mid 19th

Description: Exterior features aluminum siding, overhanging 
eaves, 6/6 and 1/1 (replacement) sash windows, inner-bay _ 
front entry with modern door, and gabled 1-bay entry porches 
on the front and rear ell.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, 1 and 1/2-story, gable-roofed wood 
shed (19th) with clapboard siding (C); (2) stone, 1-story, 
roofless springhou&e (mid 19th) with gable-end entry (C); (3) 
the collapsed ruins of a frame bank barn with stone founda­ 
tion (C); (4) two frame shed-roofed chicken coops (early 
20th) with vertical siding (C); (5) and a short distance 
downstream from the complex a stone limekiln (19th) whose 
front wall has partially collapsed (C). .

Contributing B28/L Photo f38

20 Shoddy Mill Rd. Site of the distillery, which as depicted in 
an old photograph, was a stone, 2-story, gable-roofed build­ 
ing ("Front view of Old Distillery," Lebanon Township Histor­ 
ic Museum); traces of the foundation remain.

Style: none

Date: early 19th, probably 1815-17 by Dr. Samuel C Fell who 
purchased the lot for $30 in 1815 and sold it to Henry Dusen- 
bery (his father-in-law) for $3,500 in 1817 (Hunterdon County 
Deeds Book 25/page 109 and Book 28/page 17). An 1851 auction 
advertisement describes it as the "two story Stone Still
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House, 35 by 35 feet." ("Vendue Executor's Sale...of Robert 
Simaton, des.....James Lomerson, Executor, July 31, 1851," 
Belvidere Intelligencer, 9/4/1851).

Contributing B72/L20 —

21 51 Musconetcong River RdT Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, 3-bay,
gable-roofed dwelling (rebuilt on stone foundation and incor­ 
porating hewn-timber floor framing of an earlier Jauilding 
which is said to have been badly fire damaged) with a rear 
addition^ which has an interior gable-end chimney (brick stack 
with corbelled drip capuL.

Style: Craftsman influences

HDate: -c. 1915-jJO; foundation and floor framing, early/mid 
19th. It is located a .23-acre lot sold by Robert Simaton to 
George Connolly in ~1833 and described as containing a "dwell­ 
ing house and blacksmith shop" (Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 
56/page 520).

Description: It has clapboard siding, overhanging eaves with 
exposed rafter ends, 1/1 sash windows, and a central" entry 
with a stick-bracketed gable hood which breaks the eaves 
line.

Contributing B72/L22 Photo #27

22 49 Musconetcong River Rd, (faces Shoddy Mill Rd.). Frame, 1 
and 1/2-story, gable-roofed, dwelling with a rear ell.

Style: none Date: c. 1980s 

Non-contributing B72/L21

23 47 Musconetcong River Rd. (former Dusenbery/Simaton Store) 
Stone, 2-story, gable-roofed, single-pile storehouse (later 
converted into a dwelling) with a 3-over-5-bay front fenes- 
tration and modern, stone, exterior, north gable-end chimney; 
large, frame, gable-roofed rear wing with shed appendage.
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Style: Georgian influences

Date: late 18th/early 19th; rear wing, possibly 19th, re­ 
modeled c. 1980. It stands on Henry Dusenbery's "storehouse 
lot" (Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 52/page 411). An 1851 
auction advertisement describes it as "a stone Store House, 
18 by 42 feet." ("Vendue Executor's Sale...of Robert Simaton, 
des..... James Lomerson, Executor, July 31, 1851," Belvidere 
Intelligencer, 9/4/1851).

Description-: The coursed rubble walls are more regular on the 
front elevation, incorporating rough-squared stonework and 
corner quoins; the north gable end-wall has been stuccoed and 

— the central first-story entry has been blocked up. Other
features include a box cornice, flush~raking eaves, door and 
window frames with ogee or ovolo outer moldings, 1/1 and -8/8 

.— (replacement) sash windows, batten shutters hung on strap
hinges, and paired inner-bay front entries with modern glass- 
and-panel doors which were installed to accommodate its con­ 
version into a duplex dwelling; they the original wide cen­ 
tral entry which was then blocked-up. The rear wing has 
aluminum siding and a variety of modern windows.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, 1-story, 2-bay garage (c. 1980s) 
(NO; a picket fence encloses the front yard.

Contributing B72/L18 Photo #23

24 45 Musconetcong River Rd., (former McClenehan general store). 
Brick, 2-story, gable-roofed, store with 3-bay, gable-end 
front, stone foundation, and interior chimney (brick stack)-.

Style: Italianate influences

Date: 1859, possibly not finished until 1866; "Agreement 
between Robert M. McClenehan [owner] and Edwin Valentine 
[contractor]," 5/5/1859 to construct a brick storehouse at 
New Hampton and "Agreement between Martin Obrine [sic] and 
Daniel Obrine [sic] and Samuel B. Soden, 8/25/1866, "for 
carpentry work and materials necessary to build a brick 
store...according to plans and specification of Samuel B. 
Soden."
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Description: Exterior features include a box cornice with 
crown and. bed moldings-,- friezes, returns, and paired scroll 
brackets, diamond- shaped front gable window, 2/2 and 1/1 
(replacements) windows, and brick water table. The original 
central front entry with double-leaf doors and large flanking 
windows was replaced with an end-bay entry during residential 
conversion. Except for its stone foundation^, the porch also 
is modern fabric . An historic photograph reveals the origi­ 
nal porch to have had a bracketed box cornice and large 
square posts. (One Town Around, page 73).-

Contribtrting B72/L17 - Photo #22

25 43 Musconetcong River Rd. Stone, 2-story, gable-roofed, 3- 
_ bay dwelling with a single-pile, side-hall plan, an interior 

south gable-endL chimney r and a frame, slightly_lower L 2-bay 
north-extension; to the rear of the latter is a large, 3 -bay, 
2 and 1/2-story rear wing whose roof protrudes above the roof 
ridge of the north extension _

Style: Federal influences; Italianate, Gothic Revival, and 
Colonial Revival influenced embellishment

Date: c. 1820s; frame north addition mid 19th (perhaps ear­ 
lier and remodeled); rear wing, mid 19th, its attic story 
20th). Said to be the house of Joseph Warren Dusenbery, the 
son of Henry Dusenbery, who was married in 1822. The father 
died in 1825 and the son in 1831, and in 1835 the house and 
lot were occupied by the latter 's widow, Margaret, set off by 
court action as part of her dower (Hunterdon County Surrogate 
Book I/page 393and Book 52/page 411; The Dusenbery Story. 
page 38). This court action evidently superseded the sale of 
the .3-acre property in 1834 by Henry Dusenbery's executors 
to Samuel C. Bowlby and from him one month later to Margaret 
Dusenbery (Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 58/page 490 and 493).

Description: The stone main block features a molded box 
cornice, flush raking eaves, 9/6 sash window with architrave 
trim, a recessed entry with 8-panel door, matching reveal 
panels, and transom, and Colonial Revival gabled hood. The 
frame additions have clapboard siding, boxed overhanging 
eaves (north addition with crown and bed moldings, 9/6 sash 
windows with raked cornices and louvered shutters, gable wall
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dormers on the rear ell, and at.the latter's south gable peak 
an oval window with radiating rauntins.

Outbuildings: (1) frame shed (mid 20th). 

Contributing B72/L16 Photo #21

26 41 Musconetcong River Rd. Stuccoed-stone, 2-story, gable- 
roofed dwelling with" a single-pile, side-hall plan, an inte­ 
rior north gable-end, chimney (brick stack), and a rear ell 
which-evidently began as a stone_1 and 1/2-story structure 
and was raised up in frame to 2-story height and enlarged on 
the south.

Style: Greek Revival influences

Date: c. 1839-40; the lot on which this"house stands was sold 
in 1839 by Henry Dusenbery's executors to Williajn H. Parke 
for $65 in a conveyance which described 4t as half of the lot 
in New Hampton "formerly called the tanyard lot" (Hunterdon 
County Deeds, Book 76/page 511).

Description: Exterior features include stucco and clapboard 
siding (the stucco has been partially removed exposed the 
rubble stone walls), box cornice with crown and bed moldings, 
flush raking eaves, 2/2 (replacement) sash windows with ar­ 
chitrave trim and louvered shutters, and end-bay entry with 
transom, sidelights, and vertical-two-panel door, and a mod­ 
ern shed-roofed screened porch; a modern wooden deck has been 
added to the rear.

Contributing B72/L15 Photo #20

27 33 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1-story, gable-roofed 
dwelling.

Style: none Date: c. 1950s

Outbuildings: (1) frame 2-bay garage (c. 1950s) with shed 
appendage (NO; (2) frame, 1-story, gable-roofed cottage (c. 
1920s) with split-log siding, exterior field stone chimney on 
the north gable end, overhanging eaves, 6/6 sash windows, and
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an off-center entry with glass-and-panel door (C). 

Non-contributing B72/L13 Photo #13

28 31 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, 1-story, gable-roofed, 
dwelling with attached garage.

Style: none Date: c. 1960-75

Outbuildings: (1) small, frame, 1-story, out building (late 
IDth/early 20th) with board-and-batten siding (saw-tooth- 

— edged on the gable sheathing), multi-pane sash windows, and 
modern rear appendage; it is sai'd to have been originally 
railroad property and moved to the site (C).

Non-Contributing B72/L13.01 - - •

29 29 Musconetcong River Rd. Frame, gable-roofed, 1 and 1/2- 
story, 3-bay, single-pile dwelling with a interior south 
gable-end chimney (brick stack) and a bank cellar that is 
fully above grade on the rear elevation.

Style: none Date: c. 1790-1820

Description: Exterior features include clapboard siding, box 
cornice, slightly overhanging raking eaves, and a central 
entry with modern batten door (diagonal boards) flanked by 
oversized modern multi-pane windows. The roofless entry 
stoop and rear deck are modern additions.

Contributing B72/L12.01 Photo #9

30 27 Musconetcong River Rd. (former Union Hotel). Brick
(stuccoed on front and south gable end), 2 and 1/2-story, 7- 
bay, double-pile hotel with an asymmetrical gable roof (rear 
slope eaves at attic-story floor level), interior gable-end 
chimneys (brick stacks with corbelled drip caps), a bank 
cellar that is fully above grade on the rear elevation, and a 
1-story, shed-roofed, frame appendage on the south gable end; 
to the rear is a 3-bay, 2-story addition of frame construc­ 
tion above a concrete-block ground story and with small
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appendages.

Style: Italianate, Gothic Revival influences

Date: c. 1850; an 1851 deed for the property makes reference 
to "the brick tavern house" on the location of the present 
building; the conveyance from Joseph Johnston and wife to 
George G. Johnston reserved the use of a stone house on the 
property, presumably the roof less_ stone shell standing just 
south of the brick hotel in an old photograph and identified 
as the "old tavern" (Hunterdpn County Deeds, Book 100/page 
586 and "View of Main Street, New Jlampton," Lebanon Township 
Historical Museum). The frame rear appendages were added 
after 1950.

Description: The boxed overhanging eaves are detailed as an 
entablature supported by scroll brackets and between the 
brackets on the front 2-light attic-story~windows piercing 
the frieze. Other features include 4/4 sash windows with 
wide mullion-like central muntin, raked-head plain trim, and 
modern louvered shutters, central second-story front entry 
(opening to porch roof) with transom and 4-panel door, cen­ 
tral first story entry with stepped architrave surround and 
4~-panel door ("oval" panels outlined with bolection molding), 
secondary entry (north inner bay) with glass and panel door, 
and a 8-bay flat-roofed porch with bracketed box cornice, 
square posts with molded capitals, and curved spandrel brack­ 
ets creating an arcaded effect.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, 1-story, gable-roofed shed (mid 
20th) with board and batten siding and gable-end entry with 
batten door; across the road on block 73/lot 9 (2) frame, 1- 
bay garage (mid 20th) with novelty siding (NO; and (3) frame 
shed under construction, both occupying the site of a 1 and 
1/2-story wagon house depicted in the above referenced his­ 
toric photograph.

Contributing B72/L12 Photo #s 5 & 6

31 23 Musconetcong River Rd. (New Hampton Inn). Brick and
frame, 1-story, gable-roofed, L-shaped commercial building 
with a basement story that is above grade on the rear.
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Style: none Date: mid 20th 

Non-contributing B72/L10 Photo #4

32 21 Musconetcong River Rd. Stuccoed concrete-block, 1-story, 
- 4-bay, gable-fronted duplex dwelling with a bank cellar above 

grade to the rear.

Style: Craftsman influences 

— Date: c. 1950s on an earlier foundation

Description: Exterior features include overhanging eaves with 
exposed rafter ends, inner-bay entries flanked by oversized 
windows, and a hip-roofed porch with ^square posts*

Non-contributing B72/L11 Photo #4

33 19 Musconetcong River Rd. frame, 1-story, gable-roofed, 3-
bay, double-pile dwelling with interior north gable-end chim­ 
ney (brick stack); the asymmetry of the gable roof suggests 
that the building was enlarged to the rear.

Style: Colonial Revival influences

Date: c. 1920s, almost entirely rebuilt in early 1970s by 
present owner.

Description: It has clapboard siding, box cornice, flush 
raking eaves, 6/9 sash windows with modern shutters, and an 
off-center entry with 6-panel door, most of which fabric 
appears to be of modern provenance.

Non-Contributing B72/L5 Photo #4

34 17 Musconetcong River Rd. Stuccoed-stone, gable-roofed, 2- 
story, 2-bay, single-pile dwelling with a interior, south 
gable-end chimney (brick stack), bank cellar that is above 
grade on the rear, and a frame, 2-story, shed-roofed rear 
appendage incorporating a gable south extension. The stucco 
has been removed from the front wall.
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Style: Greek Revival influences Date: c, 1825-50

Description: It has a box cornice with crown molding, bed 
molding (Grecian ovolo), frieze and returns that is carried 
on the raking eaves, a mix of multi-pane—and 1/1 sash (re­ 
placement) windows, and an enclosed shed-roofed front porch.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, 2-bay, shed-roofed garage (mid 
20th) (NO .

— Contributing B72/L9

35 15 Muscbnetcong River Rd. Frame, gable-roofed, 1 and 1/2- 
story, single-pile dwelling with bank cellar above grade on 
the west or rear, roof-ridge perpendicular to the road, 

— interior west gable^end chimney (brick stack), and east gable 
end front,~a treatment which may represent a later alteration 

~ (the original entry may have been on the south wall).

Style: Italianate derived embellishment

Date: early 19th and remodeled mid 19th, or mid 19th

Description: It has a central entry with 4-panel door flanked 
by 10-pane, sidelight-like windows, a shed-roofed porch with 
dentil strip at the eaves and square posts, and boxed over­ 
hanging raking eaves with bed molding and frieze. Other fea­ 
tures include flush eaves, clapboard siding, mostly 6/6 and 
9/6 sash windows with .architrave trim and louvered shutters.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, shed-roofed privy (late 19th/early 
20th) (C).

Contributing B72/L7 Photo f3

36 Rymon Rd. Site of a dwelling, torn down in recent years; it 
was a stone, 2-story, gable-roofed house with a one-room-plan 
and gable-end chimney. Foundation traces remain.

Style: none Date: early 19th 

Contributing B81/L8
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New Hampton possesses significance under Criteria A, B and C 
in the areas of settlement, community development, architecture, 
education, commerce, and transportation. T,he village exemplifies 
the small settlements that developed during the 18th and 19th cen­ 
turies to serve the region's dispersed agricultural population, but 
whose growth was arrested when bypassed by the railroad building 
boom of the later 19th century.— Local entrepreneurs and landed 
proprietors typically played: important roles in the development of 
these communities; at New Hampton Major Henry Dusenbery was such 
an individual. A successful entrepreneur, Dusenbery figured sig­ 
nificantly in its formative economic and institutional development, 
engaging in several commercial and industrial ventures and contri­ 
buting generously to the establishment of the local school. The 
district has architectural significance as an assemblage of mostly 
19th-century buildings whose construction, form, detailing, and 
spatial organization are representative of the rural region's ver­ 
nacular architecture in that era. The community's educational 
significance stems from its schoolhouse, a well preserved example 
of the most substantial school buildings erected by civic minded 
citizens in prosperous villages of the region during the first half 
of the 19th century. New Hampton has commercial significance be­ 
cause of its two-hotels and two store, physical documents of the 
economic and social importance of such establishments in isolated 
agricultural neighborhoods. It possesses significance in the area 
of transportation because of its 1868 truss bridge, an important 
example of a New Jersey manufactured Pratt Pony truss, which is 
individually listed on the New Jersey and National Registers of 
Historic Places. In addition, archaeological resources relating to 
the area's 18th- and 19th-century material culture also may be 
present at sites such as that of the distillery and in the environs 
of district buildings.

While settlement occurred in the neighborhood around what 
became New Hampton well before the middle of the 18th century and a 
grist mill and tavern were established there by the time of the 
Revolutionary War, if not earlier, it was not until the late 1700s 
that the settlement began to develop into a village of considerable 
local importance, as evidenced by the subdivision of a number of 
small lots and the establishment of several commercial and indus­ 
trial enterprises. 1 Favored by its location at an ample waterpower 
site and a river crossing on the region's principal north/south 
road and surrounded by a fertile agricultural district, the commu­ 
nity flourished in the early 1800s and grew modestly into the
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middle decades of the 19th century. 2 At a time when the movement 
of people and goods was largely limited to horse-drawn conveyances, 
such small communities provided the region's isolated rural popula­ 
tion with almost its only centers for commercial and social activi­ 
ty. Upon the construction of the New Jersey Central and Warren 
Railroads across the Musconetcong valley in the 1850s, however, 
stations and repair yards were established at the .junction of the 
two lines-about a mile west of New Hampton. Thereafter, New Hamp­ 
ton experienced little development, overshadowed by the new commu­ 
nity which rapidly arose at Hampton Junction, but continued as a 
small, service center until well into this^ century.

Although scattered residential development has occurred in and 
around the community in recent decades and business activity has 
largely disappeared, much of New Hampton's 19th-century character ~~ 
survives. A majority of the district's buildings date to the first 
three quarters_of the 19th century, although a-few are earlier in 
whole- or part and several others are later. The distinctiveTiisto- 
rical character of the village results from the survival of ^these 
buildings, their mostly tight-linear spacing and short setbacks, 
and their juxtaposition with the surrounding landscape. These 
resources, mostly dwellings with attendant outbuildings, but in­ 
cluding several institutional, industrial and commercial struc­ 
tures, are in general well preserved and exhibit few inappropriate 
modern alterations. Collectively they possess architectural signi­ 
ficance. Their form, construction, detailing, and siting provide a 
representative illustration of the rural region's vernacular 19th- 
century architecture. The McClenehan Store, for example, (site
#24, photo #22) typifies the gable-fronted commercial type common to 
the area's 19th-century villages, and dwellings like #s 1, 4, 7, 8, 
10, 16, 19, 25, 26, 29, and 34 exemplify the traditional house 
types and construction practices found in the region (photo #s 2, 
3, 8, 9, 11, 12, 31, and 38). The influence of popular archi­ 
tectural styles is readily apparent in the design and/or detailing 
of many district buildings. For example, houses like #s 8, 11, 14, 
16, 21, 25, 26 and 35 are essentially vernacular structures embell­ 
ished with Greek Revival, Italianate and/or other of the styles 
current during the 19th and early 20th centuries, as are the two 
hotels, #s 12 and 30, the McClenehan store, #24, and the school- 
house, #15 (photo #s 3, 6, 8, 12, 17, 22, 24, 27, 29, and 30).

Several buildings are of individual architectural note. The 
late 18th/early 19th-century Dusenbery/Simaton Storehouse (site
#23, photo #23), undoubtedly one of the oldest extant commercial
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buildings in the area, is characterized by its domestic form and 
detailing (except for its few, widely spaced windows and lack of 
chimneys, it resembles the traditional single-pile, 2-story house 
type), and presents a marked contrast to the gable-fronted commer­ 
cial type with large windows flanking a central entry which was 
almost universal throughout the area by the middle of the 19th cen­ 
tury. The Dusenbery "mansion house" (site #10, photo #s 14-16), 
the district rs largest and most impressive dwelling which dates c. 
1790-1802^ is an outstanding example of provincial late Georgian 
architecture. Besides its symmetrical facade and double-pile, 
center-hall plan, jthe stone house exhibits such characteristic ~ 
Georgian elements as "splayed, keystoned .window lintels and a modil- 
lion cornice-which is returned on both gable ends as pented pedi­ 
ments, the latter a locally rare feature typical of early Delaware 
Valley architecture. The c. 1825 New Hampton School (site # 15, 
photo #30), a well-preserved example of the 2-story, single-pile 
schpolhouse type, is distinguished by the Greek Revival-detailing 
of its cupola and cornice and the "penciling" of its stucco cladd­ 
ing to resemble ashlar stone, an uncommon local example of that 
decorative treatment. Similarly well preserved, the American House 
(site #12, photo #s 24-26), erected in L862 to replace one of the 
village's pioneer taverns, exemplifies the substantial hostelries, 
built throughout the region during the middle decades of the 19th 
century and, in its bracketed cornices and arcaded, tracery-orna­ 
mented porches, exhibits a combination of Italianate and Gothic 
Revival motifs, typical of the period.

European settlement of the western New Jersey Highlands began 
in the second quarter of the 18th century initiated by pioneer 
agriculturalis-ts of English, Scotch-Irish, Dutch, and German stock. 
While the pioneers typically were tenants or squatters on property 
acquired by absentee owners through New Jersey's system of proprie- 
tory landholding, the site of most of what later became New Hampton 
formed part of the holdings of one the few West Jersey proprietors 
to settle on the northwestern frontier. 1 Through inherited pro- 
prietory right, as well as purchase from other landowners, English- 
born John Bowlby acquired title to several thousand acres in the 
Musconetcong Valley in the 1730s and settled at the place now known 
as Imlaydale, just southwest of New Hampton on the other side of 
the river, in 1737. 2

While little is known about the early history of the settle­ 
ment local tradition, recorded in the 19th century, claims New 
Hampton as the birthplace of General Daniel Morgan, celebrated
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American patriot and soldier during the Revolutionary War, who was 
born in 1736. The tradition was recorded by local historian Dr. 
John Blane who while visiting New Hampton in 1828 (or shortly 
thereafter) interviewed several elderly residents, and was shown the 
ruins of a small log cabin on the banks of the Musconetcong on land 
belonging to the late Major Dusenbery which his informants claimed 
was Morgan's birthplace. 3 If true, Morgan's family must have been 
among the first to settle there. — • .

The southern-two thirds of what is now New Hampton forms part 
-of the 50 acres of unappropriated land acquired-^by John Bowlby from 
Joseph DeCow which Bowlby had surveyed along the Musconetcong River 
at the east end of his 880-acre tract (the site of his homestead) 
in 1747 and resurveyed in 176.3. 4 While Bowlby evidently conveyed 
title to a portion of the 50-acre tract to his son Samuel, he 
retained at least six acres at its northern end "joining Samuel 
Johnston's mills" which in his 1779 will he directed his_executors 
to divide into half-acre lots, one for each, of twelve grandchil­ 
dren. 5 Although the chain of title for the mill property at New 
Hampton (roughly the northern third of the village site) can be 
traced back only to the ownership of Charles Coxe, Esq., in 1807, 
the 1779 Lebanon Township tax ratables list, the earliest one 
extant for the township, does assess Samuel Johnson for 37 acres of 
improved land, one saw mill, and one grist mill. 6 How early the 
Musconetcong water power at New Hampton was used is unknown; Dr. 
Blane, however, writing in 1873 noted that it

was used at an early date, for a grist mill, the first 
one in the region of country.....The remains of the 
dam, submerged in the present dam, still exist. 7

Samuel Johnston's or Johnson's mill was located where the 
region's principal north/south road crossed the Musconetcong River 
after passing through the gap in Schooley's Mountain , an eligible 
location for a tavern, and there is evidence suggesting that a 
tavern was established at that place by the mid 1770s and perhaps 
some years earlier. Amos Swayze's 1775 petition for a tavern 
license informed the court that he had

removed to Johnson's Hall on the Musconetcong on the 
great road leading from Oxford to Pittstown and the 
Union [furnace] and a very public road from Sussex to 
Trenton where Spencer Carter and William Force, de­ 
ceased formerly kept in Lebanon Township....[and re-
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quested] a license to continue a tavern at the said 
house which said Swesy [sic] has rented from Samuel 
Johnson, Esq. and Mr. Patrick Flanagin. 8

An undated 18th-century petition for Daniel Vliet noted that he had

taken that old and convenient stand for keeping a 
— public house commonly known by the name of Johnson's 

Upper Mills in Lebanon Township on the great road 
leading from Trenton to Sussex Court House -and [that] 
a public house [had] been kept at that place for a 

_ number _of years past. 9 —

Whether this was the same tavern or a second local hostelry, as 
claimed by one historian, is not clear. 10

-During the last two decades of-the 18th century and continuing 
into the 1800s, the settlement grew markedly. John Bowlby's will 
was offered for probate in December, 1T82, and shortly "thereafter 
his executors evidently proceeded to layout the twelve half-acre 
lots. While deeds for none of the lots appear to have been record­ 
ed at the time of subdivision, later deed references establish that 
the lots, six fronting each side of the road, were narrow relative 
to their depth, creating a development pattern which survives to 
this day. 11 By 1784, the community had attracted a merchant, Henry. 
Dusenbery, who was assessed for a "merchant shop" in that year, and 
if not then, later on, Dusenbery conducted his mercantile business 
on the "storehouse lot," acquired by him at unknown date, in the 
stone storehouse (site #23) presumably i>uilt by him. 12 In the 
1790s, the village supported two taverns, one kept by John Matlock 
and the other by William Parke. Matlock's tavern, probably the 
predecessor of the American House (site #12) whose foundation in 
part survives, was operated in 1787 by William Parke, and his 
licensing petition for the tavern in that year provides the ear­ 
liest documented use of the name of New Hampton in reference to the 
community. The tavern kept by Parke in the 1790s may have been the 
roofless stone building located just south of the Union Hotel (site 
30) depicted in an undated old photograph and identified as the 
"old tavern." 13 In 1799, the Trenton Federalist printed an account 
of a Fourth of July celebration at New Hampton after which the 
citizens "retired to the inn and partook of an excellent dinner" 
concluding with many toasts. 14

The grist mill and saw mill continued in operation throughout
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the period, and by 1802 New Hampton had acquired another industry, 
a tannery, assessed to Jacob Swayze in that year. Later deed 
references indicate that Swayze 's tannery, which contained 24 vats, 
was located near site #26 and suggest that Henry Dusenbery, Sv/ay- 
ze's brother-in-law, was his partner and/or owner of the proper­ 
ty. 15 ' A distillery on the river bank near the mill (site #20) 
evidently was erected by Dr. Samuel C. Fell between 1815 when he 
bought the lot for $30 and 1817 when sold it for $3,500 to his 
father-in-law^ Henry Dusenbery. According to the 1820 industrial 
census, the distillery was the largest of five producing whisky and 
gin in Lebanon Township (production valued at $3,255) and manufac- 
~tured 1,666 gallons of apple jack as well. 16 The 47-acre mill - 
property was purchased by Henry Dusenbery—in 1807, and the stone 
grist mill, a portion of whe-se walls sjurvive (site #17), purported­ 
ly dates to around that time.. 17 In 1801, the village acquired a 
post office, only the. sixth to be established in Hunterdon County 
and evidence of thre community's -emergence as a center of local 
importance. 18 That considerable development was occurring around 
that time is suggested by an 1801 advertisement for the sale of 
nearby property which describes the settlement as "a very growing 
village." 19 The 1814 survey of the Spruce Run Turnpike depicts New 
Hampton as the largest community along its fifteen mile route from 
Hunt's Mill (Clinton) to Oxford Furnace, which generally followed 
the region's old north/south road, comprising a cluster of eigh­ 
teen, tightly spaced buildings extending southwards along the road 
from the old river crossing (which was bypassed in favor of a new 
crossing about three hundred yards upstream). 20

Major Henry Dusenbery, who by the early 1800s had become New 
Hampton's principal landed proprietor, played a significant role in 
the transformation of the small mill hamlet into a thriving vil­ 
lage. Henry Dusenbery (1760-1825) was the son of John Dusenbery, a 
Long Islander of Dutch descent who moved to Hunterdon County before 
1754 where after following the occupations of tavern keeper, mer­ 
chant, and farmer he died in 1789 having achieved a modest pros­ 
perity. 21 After serving in the New Jersey militia during the 
Revolutionary War (his military title stemmed from a later militia 
appointment), the younger Dusenbery evidently settled at New Hamp­ 
ton around 1784, the year he first appears on the Lebanon Township 
tax roles and of his marriage to Lydia Swayze. 22 Based at New 
Hampton where he operated as a merchant from at least 1784 until 
ceasing "merchandising business" there in 1800, he engaged in a 
variety of business enterprises and property investments throughout 
the northwestern part of the state and later on in Philadelphia. 23
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While he did not acquire the mill property at New Hampton until 
1807, tax records suggest that he may have rented the mills in 1784 
and 1802. 24 He appears to had entered into a partnership with 
Samuel. Bowlby to build and operate a nearby mill before 1792, and 
he presumably owned the tavern and tannery located nine miles up 
the river at Beattystown which he advertised for sale in 1795. 25 A 
more unusual venture was his partnership with fellow entrepreneur 
William McCullough of Asbury to develop the Mansfield Mineral 
Springs into resort. An 1810 newspaper advertisement describes the 
extensiveTimprovements made to the property (located on Upper 
Pohatcong Mountain about three miles north of New Hampton.) which 
encompassed a "boarding house, Pools, Shower Baths" and was ope- ". ~ 
rated by one Joseph Barton. 26 At New Hampton, Dusenbery made 
similar arrangements, often with family members, to develop and 
manage property, particularly during the period from about 1812 to 
1821 when he I'ived in Philadelphia and was engaged principally in 
real estate development there. As mentioned previously the tannery 
appears to have been owned and/or operated in partnership with his 
brother-in-law Jacob Swayze before the latter's death in 1809, and 
the partnership of "Dusenbery and Fell" was conducting a store at 
New Hampton in 1815. One source claims that the stone grist mill 
was erected by his son Caleb in 1814, -and according to the family 
history his s_on Joseph Warren later assisted him in the operation 
of his business enterprises. 27 Dusenbery's holdings in and around 
New Hampton came to include not only the mills, distillery, tan­ 
nery, and his store (site #23), but the upper or Matlock tavern and 
over a half dozen lots and houses, among which was his large stone 
"mansion house" (site #10), as well as considerable tenanted farm­ 
land. 2 8

Although Dusenbery suffered losses during the economic depres­ 
sion after the War of 1812 when he was forced to mortgage and sell 
some property, he died in 1825 a wealthy man for his time and 
place. The inventory of his property made shortly after his death, 
which excluded his extensive land holdings, was-valued at almost 
$9,000, a substantial amount for early 19th-century Hunterdon Coun­ 
ty. Besides store merchandise, shares of bridge and turnpike 
company stock, cash, and notes, the inventory included such evi­ 
dence of wealth and elite life style as a carriage, looking glass­ 
es, brass andirons, mantel ornaments, "pictures" and portraits, a 
tall case clock, and a lot of silver plate, china and glassware 
valued at $165. 29 With its substantial construction and Georgian 
refinements, the stone "mansion house" probably built by him and 
occupied by his widow after his death, provides a clear expression
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of his self-earned prosperity and position in the community.

In addition to his business interests, Henry Dusenbery was 
active in public affairs and contributed to the institutional 
development of his community. He was appointed major of the Fourth 
Division Brigade of the Hunterdon tyilitia in 1793, and resigning 
from that position in 1803, he was elected to the Hunterdon County 
Board of Chosen Freeholders." In 1806 and 1807, he made unsuccess­ 
ful bids for state office, running twice for a seat on the Gover­ 
nor's Council t the upper chamber of the New Jersey legislature. 3 ° 
A trustee of the nearby Mansfield Wopdhouse Presbyterian Church in 
the 1780s, he served on tJTeT building committee" supervising the con­ 
struction of the congregation's new church in 1792, and in his will 
left $100 to church trustees for completing the stone wall of the 
burial ground. 31 He also supported local education, donating a lot 
for a new school- house at New Hampton in 1825 just before his death 
(the deed specifying that the bui-lding to be erected might also be 
used for religious services when not needed for school purposes) 
and bequeathing another lot for school to the Township of Lebanon 
to be subdivided from a farm he owned several mrles south of New 
Hampton along the Turnpike. 32 . The 2-story stone schoolhouse 
erected at New Hampton on the Dusenbery lot (site #15), one of the 
most substantial schoolhouses to be erected in the area during the 
first half of the 19th century, reflects the community's prosperity 
at that time.

Describing New Hampton as it was around 1828, Dr. Blane noted 
that the settlement was

a pleasant village, much the largest of any in the 
Township, with Post Office, two mills, two taverns, 
store, school-house, two distilleries, arid several 
mechanic shops. 33

By that time, however,. New Hampton's major period of growth 
had ended, although the community did experience some modest de­ 
velopment in subsequent years and continued as an important local 
service center. While the upper tavern was sold to Jacob Johnson 
in 1828, Henry Dusenbery's executors retained title to the store, 
distillery, and mill property for several years during which time 
Joseph Warren Dusenbery evidently managed them. New Hampton was a 
stop on the Trenton to Belvidere stage coach line at this time, 
Joseph Dusenbery and his brother William having established a new 
mail coach line in 1830 which two years later was succeeded by "C.



NPS Form 10-900 a
(8-86| OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places NJ. nunterdon county 
Continuation Sheet New HamPton Historic District

Section number 8 page 9

H. Vanderveer, & Co." whose stages stopped for breakfast at Samuel 
C. Johnson's New Hampton tavern. 34 The community gained a new 
industry when John Prall purchased a lot (site #4) in the southern 
part of the village, whereon he settled and built a cabinet shop 
which over the course of several decades grew into -a- small scale 
furniture manufactory. Deeds for lots in the northern part of the 
village document the existence of Wheelwright and blacksmith shops. 
Gordon's state gazetteer noted in 1834 that the community had two 
stores and three taverns, as well as twenty to twenty-five dwell­ 
ings. 35 A second store may have existed at New Hampton some years 
earlier as there is evidence that Joseph Johnston, who owned con­ 
siderable property in the southern pa"rt-of the village, including 
the lower tavern, was a merchant there in 1819 and 1826. The third 
tavern had closecL by 1844, when Barbour and Howe described New 
Hampton as "containing 2 stores, 2 taverns, several mechanics, and 
18 dwellings." 3 6

In 1832, Robert Simaton of Lower Mount Bethel Township, Penn­ 
sylvania, purchased the Dusenbery store, distillery, and mill pro­ 
perty, as well as the ^yellow house lot" (which adjoined the upper 
tavern on the south). Having lived in New Hampton for some years, 
he acquired the Dusenbery "Mansion house" in 1845 and thereafter 
presumably made it his residence. 37 Described as a merchant in the 
1850 census, he also evidently operated the grist mill which, 
according the industrial schedule of the 1850 census, had the 
largest production of Lebanon Township's five grist mills at that 
time. 38 The large 3-story stone mill had three pairs of stones and 
two water wheels. When Simaton's property was advertised for sale 
at auction, in 1851 shortly after his death, its location was touted 
as being a half mile from the railroad. 39 Perhaps in anticipation 
of railroad generated business, the old stone tavern at the south­ 
ern end of the village was replaced with a substantial brick hotel 
(site #30, subsequently called the Union Hotel) in about 1850. It 
may not have been a successful venture, as its owner, George G. 
Johnston, lost the property at a court-ordered sheriff sale in 
1854. 40 The upper tavern was sold in 1853 after the death of Jacob 
Johnston and changed hands several times before 1862, when it was 
replaced by present American House (site #12), erected by Jacob P. 
Thomas on the "yellow house lot" next door. In 1857, the mill 
property was sold to George W. Bowlby who may have been responsible 
for the construction of the stylishly detailed frame house (site 
#14) as his residence. Dr. Robert McClenehan purchased the Dusen- 
bery/Simaton Store, as well as the Joseph W. Dusenbery House in the 
1850s, and in 1859 constructed a new brick store (site #24) between
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them. Acquiring much other property including the Dusenbery House 
and the Union Hotel, he became New Hampton's principal landed 
proprietor. 4 A

By the 1870s activity in New Hampton appears to have slowed as 
the community was overshadowed by the rapid growth of the nearby 
railroad village, Hampton Junction; an 1871 newspaper article noted 
that the

place had not improved as much~as any other part_ of
the township-^ though several good dwellings have been ~~
put up lately. There is quite a good grain market at
this place; two hotels, a blacksmith and two wheel-
wr±ight shops, a saddlery, and a large cabinet shop
and furniture store. 42

Tile 1873 county atlas's map of the village corresponds to this 
description, but depicts a second blacksmith shop as well as the 
store/post office and about twenty dwellings. The 1881 county 
history noted the existence of most of the same enterprises, except 
for the saddlery, one of the blacksmith- shops, one of the hotels 
(which probably had been closed), and about twenty-five houses. 
While the store and grist mill were still in operation, the distil­ 
lery and the saw mill appear to have been abandoned. 4 * The Prall 
furniture factory continued until some years later, but by 1906 all 
that was left was its foundation. 44 While the grist mill was 
destroyed by fire in 1906, the community acquired a new industry 
later that year when the ruins were partially rebuilt and the water 
power utilized to grind rags into shoddy. Established by John 
Nirenberger of New York, the shoddy mill was a small enterprise 
with only about a half dozen employees and whose raw materials were 
brought in from elsewhere. Although damaged by fire on more than 
one occasion, the mill operated until sometime after World War 
II. **

No longer important to the local economy, New Hampton, never­ 
theless, continued as a center for the surrounding agricultural 
community throughout the early 20th-century. The American House 
remained open at least until the start of prohibition, and dances 
were being held there as late as 1913. 46 Newspaper notices, how­ 
ever, make clear that the focus of community life at this time was 
its schoolhouse where elementary school and Sunday school classes 
were taught. While the public school closed in 1929, the Sunday 
school was carried on for some years thereafter. The post office
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was discontinued in 1948, and the store closed around that time 47

In recent decades New Hampton,, along with other once isolated 
rural neighborhoods of northwestern New Jersey, has attracted new 
residential development as improved roads and new highways have 
allowed urban and suburban families to establish their homes there 
and commute to work. Old farmsteads have been renovated and new 
dwellings built on—large lots subdivided from former farms. In New 
Hampton, renovations to older buildings have generally been sym­ 
pathetic to their historic architectural character, and while some 
scattered—residential development has occurred in^tts environs, the 
village retains ~a~ rural setting-. Local residents have recogntzed 
the special qualities of the community's architecture and landscape 
which make it a worthy candidate for inclusion on the National — 
Register of Historic Places and the desirability of preserving that 
heritage.
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mills. An 1805 deed from Samuel and Genneta Johnston to Joseph 
Johnston for a tract of land adjoining the mill lot describes it as 
"part of a tract of land conveyed by Jacob Starn to Samuel John­ 
ston, Esq. in 1768" (Hunterdon Deeds, Book 12/ page 181), and 
Johnston family bible records state that Joseph Johnson was the son 
of Samuel and Janete Johnson and "their father and mother from 
Scotland was named Samuel and Mary of Kingwood, N. J." (Edith May 
Wills Lanning (copier), "Mansfield Woodhouse Church and Burial 
Ground - Joseph Johnston Day Book," Peggy Warne Chapter, D. A. R., 
Phillipsburg, NJ, 1951, p. 117). It is not known if the Charles 
Johnston or Johnson who owned the mills at New Hampton was Charles 
Johnston the prominent Hunterdon County judge and large landowner 
(whose holdings included an iron furnace on the Musconetcong River 
at Bloomsbury), or another individual of that name. (James P. Snell
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Charles Coxe, who descended from West Jersey proprietor, Daniel 
Coxe, acquired Judge Jjohnston's Hunterdon County farm at Sidney in 
the late 1700s (D. H. Tlbrrow ed., Traditions of Hunterdon County, 
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355, Book 5/page 299, Book 15/page 361, and Book 46/page 189.
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assessed for a merchant again j.n 1785, 1786, 1789, .and 1790, the 
only other years of the late 1700s for which Lebanon tax lists 
survive. In 1784, Dusenbery was also assessed for 25 acres of 
improved land, 1 saw mill, 1 grist mill, 2 horses, 3 cattle, and 1 
"covering horse" or breeding stallion. In 1785, he was assessed 
only for 2 horses and 2 cattle, as well as merchant. In 1786, for 
the first time, he was assessed for a house and lot in addition to 
the listings of the previous year. In 1789, in addition to assess­ 
ment for 6 horses, 3 cattle, and 1 "merchant and shop," his house 
lot was described as a half acre in size, and quite probably was 
one of the Bowlby half-acre lots. In addition to the house lot, 
livestock, and merchant shop, he was assessed for 1 covered wagon 
and 1 slave on the 1790 Lebanon tax role. During these years, 
Henry Dusenbery evidently was an active, prosperous businessman.

William Dusenbery, Henry Dusenbery*s brother, is also listed 
on the late 18th-century Lebanon Township tax roles and apparently 
was also was settled at New Hampton where he is known to have owned 
a half acre lot, district site #10, which evidently was one of the 
Bowlby lots (Hunterdon County Wills, Book 4/page 246). He was 
assessed as a "householder," or tenant, and for 2 cattle in 1784 
and 1785. Probably having purchased one of the Bowlby half-acre
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lots,he was assessed for "house and lot" in 1786 and for a half- 
acre house lot in 1790. While having only one head of cattte in 
1786, he had 1 horse and 3 cattle in 1790.

13 Lebanon Township Tax Eatables, 1790; Hunterdon County 
Tavern Licenses, John Matlock, 1789, 1791, 1792, 1794, and 1798 
(vol. I, pp. 840-845, William Parke, 1787, 1791, 1792, 1793, and 
1794 (vol. I, pp. 848-852), Joshua Swayze, 178&r (vol. I, pp. 868); 
"View of Main Street, New Hampton," undated"photograph, before 
1906, Lebanon Township Historical Museum. William Parke*s 1787 
petition, dated from New Hampton, notetl that his "habitation [was] 
situated on the great road much traveled froin~Trenton to Sussex. IL~ 
Joshua Swayze's 1788 petition stated that his "habitation [was] 
licensed last year....to William Parke." In turn,'MatlockVs 1789 
petition informed the court that his house was "licensed last year 
by Joshua Swayze," and subsequent petitions (1791, 1792, 1794, an 
undated year, and 1798 which included Henry Dusenbery among the 
signers) noted that he continued at the same location. William 
Parke rs 1790s petitions indicate that he lived in another house in 
New Hampton on the "great road" where he kept tavern between 1790 
and 1794. -The caption of the old photograph in Township Historical 
Museum's collection identifies the roofless stone shell as the "old 
tavern." _

Matlock was assessed for a half-acre house lot and 2 cattle, 
as well as for a tavern on 1789 and 1790 Lebanon tax lists. Wil­ 
liam Parke first appears on the 1784 Lebanon Ratables when he was 
assessed for a "house and lot." In the following year he was 
assessed as a merchant. He was again assessed for a "house and 
lot" in 1786, as well as for 1 cattle, and in 1789 for a quarter- 
acre lot, 1 horse, and 1 cattle. In 1790, he was assessed for a 
tavern, the quarter-acre lot, and 1 cattle. While Parke's 1787 
tavern license petition clearly establishes him at New Hampton by 
that time; it is quite possible that he was there earlier, conduct­ 
ing business as a merchant. An 1814 deed indicates that William 
Parke had purchased two contiguous parcels of lands at New Hampton 
in 1795 and 1796, which appear to have comprised one of the Bowlby 
half-acre lots (Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 89/page 19).

In 1784 and 1785, Samuel Johnson, Jr., was assessed in Lebanon 
Township for a tavern. He may have been the son of Samuel Johnson 
who possessed the New Hampton mills (see note 15 below), and his 
tavern may well have been at New Hampton; unfortunately, no tavern 
license survives for him.
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Orem, Utah: Jean Porcaro, 1989, pp. 1, 22-28.

22 Ibid. pp. 27 & 31; Lebanon Township Tax Ratables, 1784.

2 3 Lebanon Township Tax Ratables, 1784, 1785, 1786, 1789, and 
1790; "Notice...Henry Dusenbery, New Hampton, Hunterdon County, 
December 12, 1800," Trenton Federalist, 12/30/1800; Dusenbery, 
pp.31-35.

24 Lebanon Township Tax Ratables, 1784. In 1784, ;the- one year 
irf which Samuel Johnson is not listed^ for saw and grist mills, 
Dusenbery was~a~lso assessed for 25 acres of improved^land, 1 saw 
mill, 1 grist mill, as well as—other property, and Samuel Johnson, 
Sr. was assessed~:for 200 acres of unimproved land. The following 
year Samuel Johnson, Esq. was assessed for 37 acres of improved 
land, 200 acres of unimproved land, 1 saw and 1 grist mill. While 
Samuel "Johnson's name—does not appear on the 1802 ratables list, 
Henry Dusenbery was assessed for a grist mill and Christopher 
Johnson, perhaps a relative of Samuel Johnson,- for 30 acres of 
improved and 200 acres of unimproved land.

25 Dusenbery, pp. 31-32; Sussex County Road Returns, Book A, 
page 192. _

25 United States Census, Products of Industry, Hunterdon 
County, Tewksbury Township, 1870.

26 "Mansfield Mineral Springs," Trenton Federalist, 8/6/1810.

27 Dusenbery, pp. 34-35; "New Hampton," The Washington Star. 
12/13/1906; Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 32/page 258, Book 76/page 
511 and Book 112/page 23; Hunterdon County Road Returns, 20-3-3. 
An 1821 deed referred to Henry Dusenbery and Samuel C. Fell "as 
late trading under the name of Dusenbery and Fell" (Hunterdon 
County Deeds, Book 32/page 258).

28 Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 2/page 335, Book 2/page 351, 
Book 5/page 299, Book 14/page 19, Book 28/page 17, Book 45/page 59, 
Book 46/189, Book 52/page 411, Book 76/page 511 and Book 112/page 
23; Hunterdon County Wills, Book 4/page 246.

29 Dusenbery, page 35; New Jersey Wills file #3373J

30 Dusenbery, pp. 32-33.
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31 James P. Snell (ed.), History of Sussexpand Warren 
Counties. New Jersey. Philadelphia: Everts & Peck, 1881, pp. 567- 
68; Hunterdon County Wills, Book 4/page 246.

32 Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 39/page 568; Hunterdon_County 
Wills, Book 4/page 246. _

33 Blane. "Hunterdon Forty-Five Years Ago," Clinton Democrat, 
10/18/1873.

34 Hunterdon County Deeds, Beok 46/page 189 and -Book 52/page 
411; Dusenbery, page 35; "New Line of Mail Coaches from Belvidere 
to Trenton (By Contract)....J. W. & W. C. Dusenbery....May 18, 
1830,," Belvidere Apollo. 6/22/1830; "Belvidere and Trenton Mail 
Stage - New Arrangement....C. H. Vanderveer, & Co....Jan. 31, 
1832," Belvidere Apollo. 2/14/1832. The_ stone house (site #25) 
standing across the street from the "mansion house" and somewhat to 
the north was the residence of Joseph Warren Dusenbery, who died in 
1831, after which his wife received title to the property where she 
was then living (Dusenbery, page 38; Hunterdon County Surrogate 
Book I/page 393 and Book 52/page 411). Although no documentation 
has come to light, it is quite likely (and the Dusenbery stage line 
'advertisement '-a statement that they had obtained the contract so 
implies) that a mail stage was running along the Turnpike through 
New Hampton at an earlier date. Samuel C. Johnson petitioned the 
county court for a license for a tavern at New Hampton in 1827; 
since Jacob Johnson, who purchased the Dusenbery tavern in the 
following year, also received a license in 1827, it appears that 
Samuel Johnson was keeping another tavern, and the stage no longer 
stopped at the Dusenbery tavern (Hunterdon County Tavern Licenses, 
Samuel Johnson and Jacob Johnson, 1827).

3 » Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 45/page 361, Book 2/page 351, 
Book 5/page 299, Book 56/page 520, and Book 116/page 159; Thomas F. 
Gordon, A Gazetteer of the State of New Jersey, Trenton: Daniel 
Fenton, 1834, page 197. In 1833, a .23-acre lot (probably site 
#21) "with dwelling house and blacksmith shop" was conveyed to 
George Conolly and .5 acres with a "wheelwright shop" to John A. 
Smith (site #16) (Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 56/page 520, and 
Book 116/page 159). No doubt, the settlement had artisan shops 
at a much earlier date, as is suggested by an 1808 deed which 
describes village lot-owner William Wollever, as a saddler (Hunter­ 
don County Deeds, Book 15/page 361).
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36 Edith May Wills Lanning (copier), "Mansfield Woodhouse 
Church and Burial Ground - Joseph Johnston Day Book," Peggy Warne 
Chapter, D. A. R., Phillipsburg, NJ, 1951; Hunterdon County Road 
Returns, 19-7-8; John W. Barber and Henry Howe,. Historical Collec­ 
tions of the State of New Jersey, Newark, NJ: Benjamin Olds, 1844, 
page 250. The "day book", evidently a store ledger, covers the 
period from 6/2771818 to 9/15/1819 and includes many New Hampton 
names. The ~road return makes reference to "Joseph Johnston*s 
store. M " .

37 Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 52/page 415 and Book 84/page 
91. Henry Dusenbery's widow Lydia, acting as his executor, sold 
the property in 1841 to her grandson Dr. Jesse W. Fell, and it- 
changed hands once again (Fell to David Parke in 1842) before being 
purchased by Simaton in 1845 (Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 75/page 
265 and Book 787page-485) . " _.

38 United States Census, Population Schedule, Hunterdon Count- 
y, Lebanon Township, 1850 and Products of Industry, Hunterdon 
County, Lebanon Township, 1850.

39 "Vendue! Executor's Sale....property of Robert Simaton, 
dec'd....James Lomerson, executor, July 31, 1851" Belvidere 
Intelligencer, 9/4/1851.

40 Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 100/page 586 and Book 112/page 
20. The 1851 conveyance from Joseph and Rebecca Johnston to.George 
G. Johnston of property encompassing the site of the hotel (site 
30) for $3,000 (Book 112/page 20) mentions the "brick tavern house" 
and reserved to the grantors "life occupancy of the stone store (?) 
house, the "old tavern" (see note 13), documenting the existence of 
the brick hotel by that time and suggesting the old stone building 
also may have been used as a store.

41 Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 105/page 428, Book 123/page 
103, Book 126/page 471, Book 126/page 473; Hunterdon County Tavern 
Licenses, Jacob P. Thomas, 1862; Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 
112/page 20, Book 116/159, Book 120/page 117 and Book 120/page 720;. 
"Agreement Between Robert M. McClenehan....and Edwin Valentine" 
August 5, 1859; F. W. Beers, County Atlas of Hunterdon, New Jersey, 
New York: F. W. Beers & Co., 1873, page 17. Thomas's 1862 tavern 
licenses petition, dated August 4, 1862, made note of "his new 
tavern house now being completed and near his old tavern house now
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occupied by him." When sold in 1852 after Jacob Johnston's death, 
the auction advertisement described the old tavern as "well known as 
an old stand, enlarged and improved at different times .....that it 
is now rendered more desirable as a Public ?stand by its nearness 
to the Depot of the New Jersey Central Railroad being a promised 
point on said road." ("Commissioners' Sale. .. .Jacob Johnston, 
dee *d. ..Robert Foster , David W. Boyer, James Hiles, commissioners 
August 17, 1852, Belvidere Intelligencer, 10/14/1852).

42 "Lebanon Township - Twenty Years Ago and Now," Clinton 
Democrat, 3/17/1871. ~ •- _ "

43 Beers, County Atlas of Hunterdon, page 17; Snell, Hunter- 
don, page 448. ~~

44 '^New Hampton" The Washington Star, 12/13/1906. According 
the newspaper the factory was "bought by E. P. Baylor, of Junction, 
who has torn it down and disposed of the lumber."

45 Hunterdon County Deeds, Book 288/page 451, Book 294/page 
345, Book 296/page 484, and Book 952/page 259 ;~ "Fire Destroys Old 
New Hampton Mill", The Washington Star, 7/5/1906; " Old Mill Will 
Be Rebuilt," The Washington Star, 7/19/1906; "#ew Hampton," The 
Washington Star , 11/29/1906; "New Hampton Has A Blaze," The Wash­ 
ington Star, 11/14/1912; "New Hampton," The Washington Star, 
12/5/1912; "Mill Addition at New Hampton," The Washington Star, 
9/22/1932; "Felt Mill At New Hampton Is Damaged By Bi« Fire," The 
Washington Star, 1/23/1941; "New Hampton, " The Washington Star, 
10/28/1941; The Industrial Directory of New Jersey, Trenton, NJ: NJ 
Department of Labor, Bureau of Industrial Statistics, 1918, page 
75; Gribbin, James, A. T. , (ed.). The Industrial Directory of New 
Jersey 1940-41 , Trenton, NJ: NJ Department of Labor, Bureau of 
Industrial Statistics, 1940, pp. 301 and 476. In 1918 the shoddy 
mill employed six men were employed to grind rags. In 1940, the 
enterprise, then called the Royal Batting and Felt Company had 
seven employees and manufactured "cotton batting for the mattress 
and upholstery trade" (1940-41 Industrial Directory . page 301).

*« "New Hampton," The Washington Star, 2/20/1913.

47 "Teachers That Taught in This School —— #8, New Hampton 
1823 - 1929 —— Sunday School until middle of 50 's," Lebanon Town­ 
ship Historical Museum; The Washington Star, 12/26/1912; "New Hamp­ 
ton," The Washington Star, 3/1/1923; "New Hampton," The Washington
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Star, 9/9/1923; "New Hampton," The Washington Star, 12/30/1926; 
"New Hampton," The Washington Star, 3/31/1932; "New Hampton," The 
Washington Star, 5/t2/1932; "Old New Hampton School Used for Wor­ 
ship Services," The Washington Star, 2/18/1941; Kay, Postal 
History, page 77.
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Books & Reports :

Barber, John W. and Henry Howe. Historical Collections of the 
State of New Jersey. Newark, NJ: Benjamin Olds, 1844.

Boyer,— Charles S. Old Inns and Taverns in West Jersey. Camden, 
NJ: Camden County Historical Society, 1962. _

Dusenbery, Henry and Jean Porcaro . The Dusenbery Story. Orem, Utah: 
Jean Porcaro, 1989 r~ - —

Farm and Business Directory of Hunterdon and Somerset Counties^ New 
Jersey. Philadelphia: Wilmer Atkinson Company, 1914.

Gordon, Thomas F. A Gazetteer of the State—of New Jersey ._ Trenton: 
- Daniel Fenton, 1834.

Gribbin, James , A. T. , ( ed. ) . The Industrial Directory x>f New
Jersey 1940-41 . Trenton, NJ: NJ Department of Labor, Bureau of 
Industrial Statistics, 1940.

Hagaman , Paul J . One Town Around , A Pictorial History of West
Portal and Vicinity. Asbury, NJ: Estate of Paul J. Hagaman, 
1984.

Hunterdon County Master Plan. Sites of Historic Interest. Flem- 
ington, NJ : Hunterdon County Planning Board, November 1979.

Kay, John L. and Chester M. Smith, Jr* New Jersey Postal History. 
Lawrence, Massachusetts: Quarterman Publications, Inc. 1976.

Morrow, D. H. (ed.). Traditions of Hunterdon County. Flemington,
NJ: D. H. Morrow, 1957, (originally published as a series of 
articles entitles "Traditions of Our Ancestors" in the Hunter­ 
don Republican in 1869-70 and believed to have been written by 
John W. Lequear.

Prall, Richard Dwight. The Prall Family. Albuquerque, New Mexico: 
Richard Dwight Prall, 1990.

Schmidt, Hubert G. Rural Hunterdon: An Agricultural History. 
New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, 1945.
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-Snell, James P. (ed.). History of Hunterdon and Somerset Coun­ 
ties , New Jersey. Philadelphia: Everts & Peck, 1881.

_____. History of Sussex and Warren Counties, New Jersey. Phila­
delphia: Everts & Peck, 1881.

The Industrial Directory of New Jersey. Trenton,~NJ: NJ Department 
of Labor, Bureau of Industrial Statistics, 1918.

Vermule, Cornelius-Clarkson. Report of Water Supply, Water Power»
"the Flow of Streams and Attendant Phenomena. Geological Survey 
of New Jersey, Final Report of the State Geologist, Vol. Ill, 
Trenton, NJ: John L. Murphy Publishing Company, 1894.

Wacker, Peter. Land and People. A Cultural Geography of Pre- - 
industrial New Jersey: Origins and Settlement Patterns. 
New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, 1975.

————. The Musconetcong Valley of New Jersey. New Brunswick^ NJ: 
Rutgers University Press, 1968.

Whitehead, William A. et al. (eds.). Archives of the State of New
Jersey: Documents Relating to the Colonial, Revolutionary. and 
Post Revolutionary History of the State of New Jersey. First 
Series, 42 vols. Various Places: State of New Jersey, 1880- 
1949.

Wright, Helen Martha. Thomas Bowlby from Mansfield Woodhouse, 
Nottingham, County Derby, England to the Province of New 
Jersey, in America about 1727, Through One of his Lines to 
Ethel Ann Emory (Mrs. Wilbur F. Swett), San Francisco, Califor­ 
nia, Montclair, NJ, May 1954 - Arranged 1964,

Maps and Atlases:

Beers, F. W. County Atlas of Hunterdon, New Jersey. New York: 
F. W. Beers & Co., 1873.

Beers, S. N. and D. J. Lake. Map of the Vicinity of Philadel­ 
phia and Trenton. Philadelphia: C. K. Stone and A. Pomeroy, 
1860.
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Cornell, Samuel C. Map of Hunterdon County, New Jersey. Phil­ 
adelphia: S. C. Cornell and Lloyd Vanderveer, 1851.

Gordon, Thomas. "Map and Report of the Spruce Run Turnpike." 1814.

Hammond, D. Stanton. "Hunterdon County, New Jersey, Sheet B", Map 
Series # 4. Genealogical Society of New Jersey, 1965.

Manuscripts and Typescripts

"Agreement~Between Robert M. McClenehan....and Bdwxn Valentine." 
August 5, 1859. Hunterdon County Historical Society, 
Flemington, NJ.

"Agreement Between Martin Obrine and Daniel Obrine and Samuel B.
Soden." August 25, 1866. Hunterdon County Historical_Society, 
Flemington, NJ. „ —

Lanning, Edith May Wills (copier), L'Mansfield Woodhouse Church and 
Burial Ground - Joseph Johnston Day Book," Peggy Warne Chap­ 
ter, D. A. R., Phillipsburg, N J, 1951. Warren County 
Library, Belyidere, NJ.

"Teachers That Taught In This School —— #8, New Hampton/1823 to
1829 --- Sunday School until middle of 50*s." Lebanon Township 
Historical Museum, New Hampton, NJ.

Periodicals:

American Eagle. Easton, Pennsylvania, 1799-1805.

Belvidere Intelligencer. Belvidere, New Jersey, 1840-1920.

Clinton Democrat. Clinton, New Jersey, 1865-1956

Federalist and New Jersey Gazette. Trenton, NJ; 1798-1800

State Gazette and New Jersey Advertiser. Trenton, NJ: 1796-1799.

The True American. Trenton, NJ: 1806-1858

The Washington Star. Washington, NJ: 1868-1967.
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Pictorial Sources: .„_

"Front View of Old Distillery, New Hampton/from E. W. Rush, Qlen 
Gardner." (no date) Lebanon Township Historical Museum, New 
Hampton, NJ. - " ._

"View of Main Street, New Hampton/Old tavern in the foreground, 
on left/Old furniture factory on right." (no date, before 

Lebanon Township Historical Museum, New Hampton, NJ.

Public Records:

Hunterdon County Court House, Flemington, NJ\ 
Hunterdon County Deed Books 
Hunterdon County Road Returns 
Hunterdon County Will Books

Hunterdon County Engineer's Office, Flemington, NJ. 
Hunterdon County Bridge Records

New Jersey Archives, State Library, Trenton, NJ 
Lebanon Township Tax Ratables, 1779-1803 
Hunterdon County Tavern Applications, 
New Jersey Wills 
West Jersey Deeds 
West Jersey Surveys

United States Census
Population Schedules, Lebanon Township, 1850-1880 
Industrial Schedules, Lebanon Township, 1820, 1850-1880

Warren County Engineer's Office, Belvidere, NJ. 
Warren (Sussex) County Road Returns.
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Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the New Hampton Historic District are delin­ 
eated on the attached map entitled "New Hampton Historic District 
Site Location and Boundary Map", and is verbally described and 
justified in the following paragraphs. The site and boundary map 
is a composite of the following municipal tax maps : Sheet 10, 
Lebanon Township, Hunterdon County, -New Jersey, and Sheet 28, 
Washington Township, Warren County, New Jersey.

The boundary of the district begins in Lebanon Township on 
the east side of Musconetcong River Road ~at_^ the southwesj; corner of 
block 73, lot 77 and proceeds east_along the south side of that 
.lot to its southeast_corner , and continues south, east, and north 
along the east, south, and east^sides of block 73, lot 8 to the 
northeast corner of lot 8, also the southeast corner of block 73, _ 
lot 8.01. _The boundary continues north and west along the east ~and_ 
north sides of block 73, Tot 8.01 to a northwest corner of that lot, 
also the southwest corner of block 73, lot 46. From there it runs 
north along the west side of lot 46 (also the east sides of block 
73, lots 10, 11, 12.01, 12, 13, 13.01, 14, and 15) to the northwest 
corner of lot 46 (also the northeast corner of lot 15), which point 
is in the south line of block 73, lot 16. The boundary continues 
east, north, west, and then north again along the south, east^— 
north sides of lot 16 to a northeast corner of that lot also the 
southeast corner of block 73, lot 17. It then proceeds north and 
west along the east sides of block 73, lots 17 and 18 and west along 
the north side of lot 18 to the northwest corner of the lot 18 and 
Musconetcong River Road which it crosses in a straight line of the 
north side of lot to the west side of that road.

The district boundary next runs north along the west side of 
Musconetcong River Road, also the east side of block 71, lots 2, 4, 
and 3 to the northeast corner of the latter lot at the intersection 
of Musconetcong River and New Hampton Roads . The boundary turns 
west along the south side of New Hampton Road, also the north side 
of block 71, lot 3, to the Musconetcong River and the northeast 
corner of lot 3. From there the district boundary crosses the 
river and boundary between Lebanon Township, Hunterdon County and 
Washington Township, Warren County to a northeast corner of block 
81, lot 8, which point is on the west side of the river and the 
south side of New Hampton Road. From there the district boundary
proceeds in a straight line across block 81, lot 8 to
north side of Rymon Road which is 200 feet from the southwest

point on the
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corner lot 8, also the southeast corner of block 81 , lot 6.

The district boundary then cuts southward across Rymon Road 
and block 79, lot 1 in. a straight line to a point on the south side 
of that lot which is 400 feet from the southeast corner of that lot 
and the Musconetcong River. The boundary proceeds south down the 
river along the municipal/county boundary to a point where the 
municipal/county boundary would be intersected by a straight line 
continuation of the south side of Lebanon Township block 72, lot 
10. The boundary turns east along that straight line continuation 
and entering Lebanon Township continues east along the south side 
of block 72, lot 10 to the northeast corner of block 72, lot 7. It 
proceeds south and east along the west and south sides of lot 7 to 
the southeast^ corner of that lot on the west side of Musconetcong 
River Road, and from there crosses the road in a straight line to 
the southwest corner of block 73, lot 7 and the place of beginning.

Verbal Boundary Justification - -

boundaries of the New Hampton Historic District are delin­ 
eated to include to the greatest extent possible the architectural 
and historical resources of the village, with not only the fewest 
non-contributing resources but also to protect the district's his­ 
toric rural setting.

On the north and south sides of the district the boundary was 
delineated to exclude modern residential development along Musco­ 
netcong River Road. To the east the district is bordered by a 
wooded hillside, and the east boundary follows the rear lot lines 
of the district resources fronting on the east side of Musconetcong 
River Road. The Musconetcong River serves as a natural border for 
the southern half of west district boundary. The northern portion 
of the west district boundary, however, jogs westward into Washing­ 
ton Township, Warren County to include, a truss bridge across the 
river, the resources associated with a farmstead adjoining the west 
end of the bridge, and all of the mill hydrosystem (the west side 
of the mill pond was in Washington Township) . In this area the 
district boundary follows a line of convenience which roughly 
follows the crest of the wooded escarpment rising up from the 
narrow river to the valley upland.
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PHOTOGRAPHS

The following is the same for all photographs:

PHOTOGRAPHER: " Dennis Bertland

DATE OF PHOTOGRAPHS: 1997

NEGATIVE REPOSITORY: Dennis Bertland Associates
PO Box 11 , Port Murray , NJ 07865

Photo #1 - 

Photo #2 - 

Photo #3 - 

Photo #4 - 

Photo #5 - 

Photo #6 - 

Photo #7 - 

Photo #8 - 

Photo #9 - 

Photo #10 - 

Photo #11 - 

Photo #12 - 

Photo #13 - 

Photo #14 - 

Photo #15 - 

Photo #16 - 

Photo #17 -

Site #1, NE View

Site #1, NE View

Site #35, NW View

Sites #33, 32, & 31, NW View

Site #30, NW View

Site #30, W View

Site #3, NE View

Site #4, SE View

Site #29, W View

Looking S from Site #7

Site #7, SE View

Site #8, SE View

Site #7, outbuilding, W View

Site #'s 9-12, NE View

Site #10, E View

Looking S from Site #11

Site #11, E View
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Photo #18 - 

Photo #19 - 

Photo #20 - 

Photo #21 - 

Photo #22 - 

Photo #23 - 

Photo #24 - 

Photo #25 - 

Photo #26 - 

Photo #27 - 

Photo #28 - 

Photo #29 - 

Photo #30 - 

Photo #31 - 

Photo #32 - 

Photo #33 - 

Photo #34 - 

Photo #35 - 

Photo #36 - 

Photo #37 - 

Photo #38 -

Site #11, barn, NE View

Looking north from Site #10

Looking NE from Site #26

Site #25, NE View

Site #24, NE View

Site #33, W View

Site #12, E View

Site #12, SE View

Site #12, SE View

Site #21, looking SW

Looking SE at Site #14

Site #14, NE View

Site #15, W View

Site #16, NW View

Site #17, NW View

Site #17, NW View

Site #17, NE View

Site #17, dam, NE View

Site #18, E View

Site #18, NW View

Site #19, NE View
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MAJOR HENRY DUSENBERY ESQ.

New Hampton HD, Lebanon Township, Hunterdon County & Washington Township, Warren County,
New Jersey
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LYDIA SWAZEY DUSENBERY 
Wife of Maior Henrv Dusenbery

New Hampton HD, Lebanon Township, Hunterdon County & Washington Township, Warren County,
New Jersey
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